Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE will be held at the Civic Offices, Shute End,
Wokingham, RG40 1BN on MONDAY 5 JUNE 2017 AT
7.00 PM

Andy Couldrick
Chief Executive
Published on 25 May 2017

This meeting may be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

The Health Overview and
Scrutiny Committee aims to
focus on:
 The promotion of public
health and patient care
 The needs and interests of
Wokingham Borough
 The performance of local
NHS Trusts

MEMBERSHIP OF THE HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Councillors
Ken Miall (Chairman)
Laura Blumenthal
John Kaiser
Bill Soane

Kate Haines (Vice-Chairman) Parry Batth
John Jarvis
Clive Jones
Malcolm Richards
Chris Smith

Substitutes
Abdul Loyes
Alison Swaddle

Imogen Shepherd-DuBey

Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey

SUBJECT

PAGE
NO.

ITEM
NO.

WARD

1.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence

2.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 8 March
2017

3.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest

4.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions

5 - 10

A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.
The Council welcomes questions from members of the
public about the work of this committee.
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the
Committee or an item which is on the Agenda for this
meeting. For full details of the procedure for
submitting questions please contact the Democratic
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions
5.
6.

MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any member questions
None Specific

WEST BERKSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS
BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2015-2016 AND
WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL'S (WBC)
ADULT SAFEGUARDING REPORT 2015-2016
To receive the West Berkshire Safeguarding Adults

11 - 48

Board Annual Report 2015-2016 and Wokingham
Borough Council's Adult Safeguarding Report 20152016.
7.

Arborfield

UPDATE ON PRIMARY CARE FACILITIES AT THE
ARBORFIELD SDL
To receive an update on primary care facilities at the
Arborfield Strategic Development Location.

49 - 52

8.

None Specific

HEALTHWATCH WOKINGHAM BOROUGH REVIEW OF EXTRA CARE SERVICES
To receive the Healthwatch Wokingham Borough Review of Extra Care Services.

53 - 72

9.

None Specific

HEALTH CONSULTATIONS
To note current health consultations.

73 - 74

10.

None Specific

FORWARD PROGRAMME 2017-18
To consider the forward programme for the remainder
of the 2017-18 municipal year.

75 - 86

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any
other items to consider under this heading.

Madeleine Shopland
Tel
Email
Postal Address

CONTACT OFFICER
Principal Democratic Services Officer
0118 974 6319
madeleine.shopland@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 2.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
HELD ON 8 MARCH 2017 FROM 7.00 PM TO 9.05 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Ken Miall (Chairman), Kate Haines (Vice-Chairman), Laura Blumenthal,
Richard Dolinski, Clive Jones, Abdul Loyes and Chris Smith
Others Present
Madeleine Shopland, Principal Democratic Services Officer
David Cahill, Locality Director, BHFT
Mimi Konigsberg, Interim Head of Adult Social Care and Safeguarding
Dr Johan Zylstra, Wokingham CCG
Mette Jakobsen, Managing Director, Optalis
Lorna Willis, Service Innovation Manager
Dr Minoo Irani, Medical Director, BHFT
Karen Cridland, Director of Children's, Young People and Family Services, BHFT
Colin Archer, Head of Learning Disability Services, BHFT
41.
APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillors Parry Batth, Philip Houldsworth
and Bill Soane.
42.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 8 November 2016 were confirmed
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
43.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Councillor Kate Haines declared a Personal Interest in Item 46 Community Mental Health
Services as she was a service user.
44.
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
There were no public questions.
45.
MEMBER QUESTION TIME
There were no Member questions.
46.
COMMUNITY MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES
Members received an update on community mental health services.
During the discussion of this item the following points were made:





David Cahill, Director - Wokingham Locality, Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust,
informed Members that the Common Point of Entry (CPE) provided a single point of
entry for a number of BHFT mental health services including; all new referrals for
Adult Secondary Care mental health services, all new referrals to Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), all new referrals to Older People’s
Mental Health Services, all new referrals to Learning Disability services and all new
referrals to Specialist Services.
The CPE was based in The Old Forge, Wokingham.
Referrals were received from various sources. All referrals were triaged; red
(urgent), amber (semi urgent) and green (lower level need). Councillor Blumenthal

5






















questioned how many patients had been referred under each category. David
Cahill commented that between 75 and 80% were signposted to other services.
Councillor Blumenthal queried how Wokingham compared to its Berkshire
neighbours with regards to referrals. David Cahill stated that a greater number of
referrals to primary mental health services were made in Wokingham.
Members requested further information on the types and acuity of referrals.
All referrals for adult mental health services were assessed by the CPE multidisciplinary team to identify whether secondary mental health services were
required.
Approximately 4,000 new referrals out of a total of approximately 12,000 referrals
had been received for Wokingham for the year. This was slightly above average for
Berkshire.
Members noted referral activity by GP practice. Dr Zylstra commented that bigger
practices would expect higher referral rates due to having larger patient numbers.
Councillor Miall referred to a report produced by Healthwatch Wokingham Borough
which detailed several individuals’ somewhat negative experiences of Wokingham
Community Mental Team following a mental health crisis. David Cahill stated that
training was provided to staff. It was often difficult for staff to pick up cues as to
how someone was feeling over the telephone. Calls were recorded so staff could
go back and later review them. In addition support and debriefings were provided
to staff when required as it was a stressful environment.
Karen Cridland- Director of Children's, Young People and Family Services,
Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust updated Members on the CAMHS.
Berkshire CAMHS was a specialist child and adolescent mental health service
proving support, advice, guidance and treatment for children and young people up
to the age of 18 with severe or moderate mental health difficulties, whose
symptoms had a significant impact on their day to day lives.
The service was made up of:
 CAMHS Common Point of Entry;
 Autism Assessment Team;
 ADHD Pathway;
 Cognitive Behaviour Therapy Service for Anxiety and Depression;
 Locality Specialist Community Team for young people with more complex
difficulties;
 Berkshire Adolescent Unit providing acute in-patient assessment and care.
The Committee was informed that the wait time for CPE for CAMHS was
approximately 3 weeks.
Members were pleased to note that the CAMHS Urgent Response Pilot, which
provided swift mental health assessments for young people presenting in crisis and
short-term intensive community interventions to prevent crisis, had been extended
for at least another year.
Karen Cridland outlined the early intervention work undertaken in partnership with
the Council, schools and other organisations.
In response to a question regarding the availability of the Young SHaRON, Karen
Cridland indicated that the ambition was for it to be available 5 days a week.
Councillor Dolinski queried whether the third sector had had an input into the
development of Young SHaRON. He was told that this was the case.
The Committee considered some of the challenges to the CAMHS.
Whilst waiting times for the Autism Assessment Team had reduced from 2 years to
approximately 39 weeks, this was still too high. Councillor Jones asked what the

6









Trust would like to see the waiting time reduce to. Karen Cridland indicated that it
would like to see a reduction to 12 weeks.
Members were reminded that the service for autism was purely diagnostic.
Councillor Blumenthal questioned how the number of inappropriate referrals made
in Wokingham compared with other areas. She was told that it was roughly
comparable.
Councillor Jones went on to ask what the average waiting time was for the ADHD
pathway and was informed that it was 10 weeks.
Locating qualified staff to fill key roles was a national problem, particularly for shortterm roles.
Members were notified that further coordination of the council offer at Tier 2 early
intervention level would assist in reducing the number of referrals that would be
better placed with these services.
The Committee considered the forthcoming opportunities for the CAMHS including
having only one telephone number for the children and young people and families
Health Hub.
The Committee was updated on Tier 4 provision in response to a request from
Councillor Haines.

RESOLVED: That the update on community mental health services be noted.
47.
UPDATE ON LEARNING DISABILITY SERVICES
The Committee was provided with an update on services for those with learning
disabilities.
During the discussion of this item the following points were made:












Colin Archer, Head of Learning Disability Services, Berkshire Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust, indicated that the Community Team for People with Learning
Disabilities provided advice, support, assessment, treatment and therapies to
support adults with learning disabilities with their specialist health related needs.
The team worked with people and their families, Optalis, the Council, local GP’s,
acute hospital staff, private providers, and the Learning Disability Partnership
Board.
Colin Archer outlined challenges and opportunities that were faced. For example,
those with learning difficulties tended to have poorer health than the general
population.
Members were notified of the Transforming Care programme which sought to
ensure people were supported in their community. Nationally there was an aim to
reduce the frequency and length of admissions to specialist hospitals. A national
service model had suggested that Berkshire needed to reduce its specialist beds by
between 40-50%.
The Committee was informed of the Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of
people with learning disabilities. In response to a question from Councillor Loyes,
Colin Archer explained that locally there was also an internal mortality review
process in place.
Councillor Dolinski questioned how the Community Team coordinated with the
acute services when required and was informed that there was a Learning Disability
Liaison Officer based at the Royal Berkshire Hospital who liaised closely with the
Community Team.
The Committee noted likely future service provision.

7

















Mimi Konigsberg, Interim Head of Adult Social Care and Safeguarding updated
Members from a social care point of view.
It was noted that people with a learning disability were referred to the Adult
Assessment Team to discuss their care and support needs. If they met the
eligibility criteria, a Personal Budget would be set so that a bespoke package of
care could be arranged.
Councillor Loyes asked about the allocation of direct payments and how the
eligibility criteria was set. Lorna Willis, Service Innovation Manager, explained that
the eligibility criteria was based on that set out in the Care Act. With regards to
allocations the aim was to make allocations quickly following assessment.
Support was also provided with regards to employment and housing. Members
were informed of the advocacy services available.
Wokingham had an active Learning Disability Partnership. Members questioned
what issues were frequently raised at the Partnership. Housing and access to
health services were recurring topics of discussion.
The Committee discussed transition from child to adult services. Services that
people with learning disabilities had when they were children were often different to
those they received when they reached adulthood and it was important to manage
expectations. Mimi Konigsberg commented that it needed to be made clear at an
earlier stage that services provided could be different when the person transferred
to adult services.
Mimi Konigsberg clarified that those with learning disabilities up to the age of 25
received services from children and young people’s services.
Councillor Smith questioned whether the total Learning Disability budgets of
£18,931,030 related to Wokingham Borough only. Lorna Willis confirmed that this
was the case.
Councillor Smith went on to question the underspend relating to the Learning
Disability Registered Residential. Lorna Willis explained that nationally there was a
move away from placing individuals within registered residential provision where
possible.
In response to a question from Councillor Blumenthal about the number of
individuals with learning difficulties who were living with elderly parents within the
Borough, Lorna Willis commented that this was a challenge.
It was noted that it was difficult to find housing solutions in the local area due to the
high cost of housing. Councillor Dolinski queried what impact employment had on
housing. Mette Le Jakobsen indicated that whilst employment had a positive effect
on health and wellbeing in general it did not affect housing availability and the
complexities of which individuals were able to live together.

RESOLVED: That the update on learning disability services be noted.
48.
MEETING THE NEEDS OF THE GROWING CARE HOME POPULATION
Dr Zylstra provided a presentation on how the needs of the growing care home population
were being met.
During the discussion of this item the following points were made:



The local population was expected to increase by 15% by 2039 to 183,600, with the
most significant change expected in older adults aged 85 years and over.
Dr Zylstra explained that there were three types of care home; residential
home/care home, nursing home/care home and dual homes.

8




















There were 22 care homes within the Borough; 13 were residential homes, 8 were
nursing homes and 1 dual. It was noted that 10 of the 13 GP practices provided GP
support to these care homes.
There were a total of 1017 beds; 455 residential beds, 461 nursing home beds and
101 dual care home beds. Members were informed that 50% of the care home
beds within Berkshire West were located within the Wokingham Borough. Many
residents came from outside of the area.
Patients could choose to stay with their registered GP if local when moving to a
care home or to register with the care home GP, if different.
Care homes ensured that all patients were registered with a GP and contacted the
GP practice when required during working hours. Some care homes had one GP
practice looking after residents and others had several practices.
The Care Home Support Team aimed to increase the skills of the care home staff
by building their knowledge, skills, confidence and professionalism.
The Rapid Response and Treatment Team was a multidisciplinary service
comprising of a community geriatrician, advanced nurse practitioners, registered
nurses and was available 7 days a week, 9am – 7pm. The Team helped prevent
unplanned acute hospital admissions. The number of non-elective admissions to
hospitals from Wokingham was reducing.
£1.5million had been allocated for the Rapid Response and Treatment Team for
Berkshire West and the team had been in place for 5 months. In response to a
question from Councillor Smith as to whether it was anticipated that the service
would generate savings, Dr Zylstra commented that a saving of £2million for 12
months had been allocated against this service. Currently, the service was
breaking even so achieving the £2million saving was unlikely, but it was hoped that
a £1million saving would be made.
Outside of working hours support was provided by Westcall.
Nationally 57% of all elderly care home residents contributed to their care with 43%
receiving free care. However, in the Borough approximately 80% of care home
residents paid for their own care.
Dr Zylstra explained that the NHS made a contribution for nursing care provided to
all patients, including self-funders. The assessment was made on a per capita
basis. Wokingham was perceived to have a healthier population and as such its
figure was lower than many other areas.
Councillor Smith questioned how many beds would be needed in future in light of
the growing ageing population and increase in those with more complex health
needs. Dr Zylstra commented that there was an increasing focus on keeping
people out of hospital. Councillor Haines expressed concern that this may lead to
some people not being picked up at a sufficiently early stage.
Councillor Blumenthal enquired how many available beds there was currently within
the Borough and was informed that it was unlikely to be more than 10.
Councillor Smith asked about waiting lists for care homes. Dr Zylstra indicated that
delayed transfer of care levels in Wokingham were low.

RESOLVED: That the update on how the needs of the growing care home population
were being met was noted.
49.
HEALTHWATCH UPDATE
The Committee considered the update report from Healthwatch Wokingham Borough.
During the discussion of this item the following points were made:

9





Councillor Miall questioned whether Healthwatch had received a response from the
Council in relation to their query on Personal Independent Payment assessments.
Councillor Blumenthal asked what the outcome of the meeting with Berkshire
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust regarding CAMHS, had been.
The Principal Democratic Services Officer would seek a response from Healthwatch
Wokingham Borough and feed back to the Committee.

RESOLVED: That the update on the work of Healthwatch Wokingham Borough be noted.

10

Agenda Item 6.
TITLE

West Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Report 2015-2016 and Wokingham
Borough Council’s (WBC) Adult Safeguarding
Report 2015-2016

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 5 June
2017

WARD

None specific

DIRECTOR

Judith Ramsden, Director of People’s Services

RECOMMENDATION
That the Committee reviews the reports attached as Appendix 1 and 2.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
This report outlines West Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 20152016 and WBC’s Adult Safeguarding Report 2015-2016 and provides performance data
and analysis for safeguarding as well as setting out the priorities for WBC for 20162017.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a
result of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and
subsequent reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that
Wokingham Borough Council will be required to make budget reductions in
excess of £20m over the next three years and all Executive decisions should
be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

N/A

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Cross-Council Implications
N/A
List of Background Papers
ADASS peer Review February 2016
Service People’s

Contact Phillip Sharpe

11

N/A

Telephone No X 6788
Date 22.5.2017

Email Phillip.sharpe@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

12

West of Berkshire
Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Report 2015-16

If you would like this document in a different format or require any of the
appendices as a word document, contact natalie.madden@reading.gov.uk

13

West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Report 2015-16
1. Message from the Independent Chair
I have welcomed the opportunity to take over as interim Independent Chair for the Board
and have enjoyed working across three Councils and partner organisations to ensure that
safeguarding adults is embedded across the West of Berkshire. I have been impressed by
the excellent attendance of Partners and the full participation at Board meetings. The
agenda items have been varied and challenging, including learning from Safeguarding Adults
Reviews and ensuring that such learning is embedded into practice and not "one off
events," as well as taking a more thematic approach to Board agendas to reflect the four
strategic priorities that underpin the work of the Board.
The Board is very mindful that all efforts going into making adults safe need to reflect on the
experience of adults who may be subject of a safeguarding enquiry. Making Safeguarding
Personal, an initiative led by the Directors of Adults Social Services, has proven to be a
helpful reminder to us all to take stock of all documents, literature and services available to
the public to highlight the importance of adult safeguarding and where to go to seek further
information.
Closer links with the Local Safeguarding Children's Boards remain a priority, recognising that
adult safeguarding will often involve working with families and we need to ensure that,
given the challenges all organisations face in respect of finance, we learn from each other,
share good practice and avoid duplication.
The Board is working well but we are not complacent and know there is much more to do.
We have streamlined the Annual Report in an attempt to explain more simply what the
Board has been set up to achieve as well as progress made over the last year. I would
welcome your views as to whether we have managed to achieve this aim. The Partner
organisations will be seeking to appoint a permanent Chair over the forthcoming year and I
welcome the opportunity to work with the new Chair to ensure that a smooth and effective
handover of responsibilities takes place.
I would like to extend my thanks to all Partners who have attended Board meetings and
have invested time, energy, and professional commitment to adult safeguarding across the
West of Berkshire and look forward to a continued excellent working relationship.
Brian M Walsh
Interim Independent Chair West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board

14

West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2015-16

1. Our vision for safeguarding adults
People are able to live independently and are able to manage risks and protect
themselves; they are treated with dignity and respect and are properly supported when
they need protection.

2. Who we are
The West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board covers the Local Authority areas of
Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham. The Board is made up of local organisations
which work together to protect adults at risk of abuse or neglect. From April 2015
mandatory partners on the Board are the Local Authority, Clinical Commissioning
Groups and Police. Other organisations are represented on the Board, such has health,
fire and rescue, ambulance service, HealthWatch, probation and the voluntary sector.
A full list of Partners is given in Appendix A.

3. Who we help
Any person 18 or over at risk of abuse or neglect because of their needs for care and
support and as a result of those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves.

4. What we do
Safeguarding means looking out for and trying to protect others in our community who
are vulnerable, or may be at risk of harm. We work together to ensure there are systems
in place to keep vulnerable people in the West of Berkshire safe; we hold partner
agencies to account to ensure they are safeguarding vulnerable people; we work to
ensure agencies and organisations are focused on outcomes, performance, learning and
engagement. There are many different forms of abuse:
Physical
Domestic
Sexual
Psychological
Financial / material
Modern slavery
Discriminatory
Organisational
Neglect or acts of omission
Self-neglect
For more information, go to the Board’s website: http://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/
or click on the links: What is abuse?
Signs of abuse
Concerned about an adult?

15

West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2015-16

How to get help and advice:
In an emergency situation call the Police on 999.
If you think there has been a crime but it is not an emergency, call the Police on 101.
If you are concerned about yourself or another adult who may be being abused or neglected,
contact Adult Social Care in the area in which the person lives, on the numbers below:
Reading 0118 937 3747
West Berkshire 01635 519056
Wokingham 0118 974 6800
Out of normal working hours, contact the Emergency Duty Team 01344 786 543

5. Trends across the area
The number of safeguarding concerns continues to increase year on year.
Over half the concerns are raised by social care and health staff.
As in previous years, the majority of enquiries relate to older people over 65 years.
More women were the subject of a safeguarding enquiry than males, as in previous years,
Individuals with a White ethnicity are more likely to be referred to safeguarding and the proportion
is higher than for the whole population.
The most common types of abuse were for Neglect and Acts of Omission followed by Physical
Abuse and Psychological Abuse.
For the majority of cases the primary support reason was physical support.
The most common locations where the alleged abuse took place were a person’s own home and a
care home.
The majority of concluded enquiries involved a source of risk known to the individual in Reading
and West Berkshire but the source of risk in Wokingham was social care support.

Further details are presented in the Safeguarding Performance Annual Reports
by partner agencies, Appendix E.

16

West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2015-16

6. How we have made a difference by working together
The Berkshire Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedures 2016 were launched and
support staff to respond appropriately to all concerns of abuse or neglect they may encounter,
providing a consistent response across the county.
The annual joint conference was held on 9 October 2015, based on the theme of Challenging
Cultural Assumptions in Safeguarding. Topics included: cultural sensitivity in safeguarding,
radicalisation, forced marriage, working with interpreters, witchcraft and possession, supporting
traveller communities, anti-trafficking, and providing culturally sensitive care.
Stronger links between health, adult safeguarding teams and local authority Care Governance
teams has enabled the timely access to information and expertise, such as the Berkshire West
Federation of CCGs pharmacy and infection control involvement in section 42 enquires.
Partnership working through the Integrated Care Home Project Board promotes integration in the
commissioning of care homes, best practice and the recognition of patients’ rights, choices, needs
and safety.
A joint health and social care conference, Embedding the MCA in Practice, was held in September
2015; positive feedback included carers’ perspectives and evidenced direct impact on front line
practice.
A joint Training in Practice (TIPS) event for primary care included LA and voluntary sector
representatives as speakers or stall holders.
Peer review of safeguarding services in local authorities, to which all partner agencies contributed.
Development of a Care Governance Framework to promote Care Act accountabilities and joint
responses to organisational safeguarding concerns. Health agencies supported LAs and CCGs with
the management of concerns in care homes.
Raising awareness of adult safeguarding by community groups and people who use services by
means of experts by experience delivering talks and designing easy read literature.
Engagement in the development of female genital mutilation (FGM) multiagency protocol and
pathway; raised awareness of FGM through a new RBH intranet webpage; an RBH midwife who had
undergone FGM supports victims.
Through the Independent Trauma Adviser Steering Group, partners work with Rahab to support
victims of modern day slavery, particularly in relation to Brothel warrants. This gives specialist
support to the victims who are potentially trafficked, and support officers with addressing the
welfare needs.

17

West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2015-16

Partnership working between Police and Mental Health Nurse in response to mental health calls
has led to a reduction in detentions and provision of more appropriate mental health support for
the individual.
Multi-agency partnerships (Sex Workers Action Group and Street Population) identify health,
housing and financial support to meet the needs of vulnerable people.
World Cafe Planning with partners to obtain community views and ideas in relation to vulnerable
and exploited individuals.
Joined Up Front Line Action (JUFA) initiated in March 2016 and piloted in Whitley, is a partnership
between Police, Fire Service, Health, Voluntary Sector agencies and others to make better use of
visits by professionals. Other partners are informed of an individual’s needs, for example a Police
visit may identify the need for a smoke alarm.
Problems in Practice meetings are held monthly to discuss issues in relation to partnership working
across health, mental health and the Police. Discussions enhance knowledge of other organisations’
processes and procedures and allow a platform to improve practice.
How we have embedded Making Safeguarding Personal
Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) is a shift in culture and practice in response to what we now
know about what makes safeguarding more or less effective from the perspective of the person
being safeguarded. Locally, steps have been taken to develop person centred, outcome-focused
practice, including:











Partners implemented a standard audit template reflective of MSP requirements, with an
aim to provide consistent measures of safeguarding quality assurance reporting to the
Board.
Promotion of MSP in safeguarding training; training has been reviewed to ensure that
obtaining consent and desired outcome is central to safeguarding practice; joint
commissioning of specific MSP training for frontline workers and managers.
Safeguarding newsletters promoted MSP and the importance of asking service users what
their desired outcomes are.
Computer systems, templates and practice guidance for staff and service users have been
amended to reflect MSP; safeguarding forms have a requirement to include service users’
desired outcomes and whether they were achieved.
Quality Assurance measures incorporate MSP.
MSP is promoted through coaching and conversations with the workforce and wider
stakeholders.
Incident reporting processes have been refocused to give prominence to the adult’s voice.
Case study 1: The Involvement of the individual at a safeguarding meeting
with her family and staff from the police, mental health, social care, her GP

18

West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2015-16

and an external provider was a positive way of getting everyone to appreciate
each other’s involvement and identify a plan to support the individual. The
meeting provided a forum for open discussion and prevented any
miscommunication between both professionals and the services user. Early
multi–agency planning and discussion between the safeguarding leads from
both health and adult social care provided the leadership and direction to
move the case forward.
Case study 2: Multi-agency approach to a significant safeguarding situation
led to client being supported to continue leisure pursuits that had previously
been a source of high risk.

Further achievements by partner agencies are presented in Appendix B.

7. Safeguarding Adults Reviews
The Board has a legal duty to carry out a Safeguarding Adults Review when there is reasonable
cause for concern about how agencies worked together to safeguard an adult who has died and
abuse or neglect is suspected to be a factor in their death. The aim is for all agencies to learn
lessons about the way they safeguard adults at risk and prevent such tragedies happening in the
future. The West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board has a Safeguarding Adults Review Panel
that oversees this work.
During the reporting year, the Board commissioned two Safeguarding Adults Reviews both of which
involved practitioners. We cannot publish information about one of the cases as there is a criminal
investigation underway. An executive summary about the second case and the full report can be
found
on
the
Board’s
website
at
http://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/boardmembers/safeguarding-adults-reviews/

8. Key priorities for next year
Develop our oversight of the quality of safeguarding performance through the Board’s Quality
Assurance Framework and the annual self-assessment audit completed by partner agencies.
Develop a Performance and Quality Assurance framework to support and promote Making
Safeguarding Personal.
Promote the new Berkshire Multi-agency Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedures, ensuring
agencies are compliant through case audits and multi-agency thematic reviews.
Continue to learn from Serious Adults reviews and embed lessons learnt across all organisations
which can be monitored and reviewed at regular intervals.
Raise awareness of the Board’s function and of local safeguarding processes.

19

West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2015-16

Continue to ensure staff receive an appropriate level of safeguarding adults training.
Develop mechanisms to measure outcomes for individuals who have been through the
safeguarding process and ensure service user feedback is collected and understood.
Ensure person centred responses are promoted through the involvement of advocates and
Independent Mental Capacity Assessors.
Ensure successful recruitment to permanent Chair and effective handover of responsibilities.
Continue closer working with three Local Children's Safeguarding Boards to identify joint priorities,
learning and effective communication.
Review the infrastructure that supports the Board, streamline subgroups where possible to avoid
duplication and utilise more effectively the use of Partners' time.
Learn from other Safeguarding Adults Boards and share, more widely, examples of good practice
from the West of Berkshire Board on a local, regional and national level.

Appendices
Appendix A Board member organisations
Appendix B Achievements by partner agencies
Appendix C Completed Business Plan 2015-16
Appendix D Business Plan 2016-17.
Appendix E Safeguarding Performance Annual Reports from partners agencies:
Berkshire Healthcare Foundation Trust,
Reading Borough Council,
Royal Berkshire Foundation Trust,
West Berkshire Council,
Wokingham Borough Council
Appendix F Training activity

20

West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2015-16

Wokingham Borough Council
Annual Safeguarding Report 2015-2016

CONTENTS

PAGE

1.

Executive Summary

2

2.

Safeguarding Service and prevention Summary 2015-2016

3

3.

Performance data and analysis

7

4.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards

5.

Priorities for Wokingham Borough Council 2016-2017

21 1

18

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Care Act 2014 sets out a clear legal framework for how local authorities and other parts of
the system should protect adults at risk of abuse or neglect. Local authorities under its
enactment have new safeguarding duties and must:


Lead a multi-agency local adult safeguarding system that seeks to prevent abuse and
neglect and stop it quickly when it happens.



Make enquiries, or request others to make them, when they think an adult with care and
support needs may be at risk of abuse or neglect and they need to find out what action may
be needed.



Establish Safeguarding Adults Boards, including the local authority, NHS and police, which
will develop, share and implement a joint safeguarding strategy.



Carry-out Safeguarding Adults Reviews when someone with care and support needs dies
as a result of neglect or abuse and there is a concern that the local authority or its partners
could have done more to protect them.



Arrange for an independent advocate to represent and support a person who is the subject
of a safeguarding enquiry or review, if required.

As such safeguarding adults at risk is a strategic and operational high priority for Wokingham
Borough Council and remains a core activity for Adult Social Care services.
This report evidences the key performance indicators and measures taken to enable more
accurate analysis, monitoring and assurance of our strategic and operational developments
within the Borough to ensure outcomes for adults at risk of abuse or neglect.
This year has seen significant developments in its performance indicators by implementation of
the quality assurance frameworks and has demonstrated a significant commitment from staff
and leaders within the council to meet the requirements of the Care Act 2014. This supports
business planning improvement objectives for the coming year and improvement in the area of
adult safeguarding has been demonstrable in systems and practice.
Prevention and awareness raising work has always been a key priority for the borough and
many innovative initiatives of co-production work within our community and with people who
use services have gained local, regional and national recognition. This area of work continues
to grow in strength with the support and commitment of the Safeguarding Adult’s Forum.
A full review was undertaken by the Association of Directors for Adult Social Services (ADASS)
in the form of a peer review, and whilst areas for further consideration and development as a
“critical friend” were identified, the report noted the innovation of the council and its workforce
in particular relating to its strategic and operational developments of risk matrix management in
the area of provider services and its interface with preventative safeguarding responses. In
addition, the strategic developments within the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding service were
cited as innovative in design to manage the unprecedented impact on finances, resources and
quality assurance post the significant Cheshire West ruling delivered this year. This model has
been shared and adopted by a neighbouring authority.
The meeting of Statutory responsibilities and the Mental Capacity Act (2005) and Deprivation of
Liberty Safeguards (2007) remain an ongoing challenge and area of high impact on operational
services however we are benching marking well against other authorities and have actively
supported our health partners in their development, support and design to meet their duties in

2

22

this area. The development of DOLS referral officer post has been instrumental in risk mitigation
work for the authority.
With an established quality assurance and improvement programme a key focus for the coming
year will be to further progress the Making Safeguarding Personal agenda and ensuring our
communities and people who use services are empowered to be as participatory as possible in
shaping and progressing this agenda.
Wokingham continue to be active participants on the work of the West of Berkshire
Safeguarding Adults Board. Initiatives and models of our quality assurance framework in
qualitative audit have been adopted by the Board to measure impact and ensure quality in direct
safeguarding practice in line with the principles of the Care Act 2014 and Making Safeguarding
Personal across the three boroughs.
ADULT SAFEGUARDING SERVICE AND PREVENTION WORK SUMMARY FOR
ANNUAL REVIEW 2015-16
The West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board (WoBSAB) has 4 priorities and objectives to
its business plan. WBC Safeguarding and Prevention Service Work has been summarised
under the appropriate priority of the Safeguarding Adults Business plan and Objectives.
Overall this year’s Adult Safeguarding and Prevention Service strategy, has been one of fruition,
i.e. many projects and initiatives have successfully come to an end or are embedded into
ongoing strategy and practice.
Priority 1: Establish effective governance structures, improve accountability & ensure
the safeguarding adults agenda is embedded within relevant organisations, forums &
boards.
•
•
•
•

ADASS Peer Review undertaken and action plan devised with positive
recognition of the creative initiatives and work undertaken in WBC.
Framework for Quality Assurance in provider services implemented where
serious concerns relating to quality of care and impact are identified.
Quality Assurance and triage framework for operational services designed and
implemented with measurable outcomes for improvement and delivery.
Coproduction work undertaken on the wider safeguarding agenda with people
who use services, advocacy groups and the local community.

Specific prevention work detailed below
The Joint Children’s & Adults Safeguarding E-Learning module was successfully
implemented across the whole council and is now included as part of the Corporate
Induction. A joint presentation was made to 20 members in September 2015. This was
a joint piece of work with Children’s Services to support them in meeting their Section
11 requirements.
The Wokingham Adult Safeguarding Partnership Forum (WASPF) has over 60
members & continues to hold quarterly meetings. Average attendance per meeting is
19.5 with an equal amount of apologies. Discussions continue to be led by members
and as well as the standing local and SAB Adult Safeguarding Update, over the past
year have included a presentation from Scottish & Southern Electric about their
‘Priorities Register: https://www.ssepd.co.uk/PriorityServices/ National Personal Safety
Day
an
annual
event
hosted
by
the
Suzy
Lamplugh
Trust:
http://www.suzylamplugh.org/personal-safety-tips/npsd2014/ Presenting the SAB’s
Annual Report & reviewing the forums priorities, as well as presentations from providers
outlining how safeguarding is addressed within their organisations.

23 3

Supporting partners - Support from WBC was given to West Berkshire Council to
advise as to how West Berks could design and facilitate their own forum.
As a member of the WoBSAB L&D Subgroup, WBC have representation in the
Workforce Development Strategy with the aim to make the standards for the Level 1
Train the Trainer and other training standards more robust and in line with changes
required to meet the Care Act.
Support with Confidence a nationally recognised scheme continues to grow within the
borough, safeguarding remains a key element throughout the accreditation process.
Priority 2: Raise awareness of Safeguarding Adults, the work of the board & improve
engagement with a wider range of stakeholders.
Adult Safeguarding Level 1, 2 & 3 training sessions continue to occur monthly (this
is in line with other neighbouring authorities). Sessions are specifically adapted for
people with a learning disability and other community groups for level 1 raising
awareness.
In May 2015 our Prevention Service supported CLASP to facilitate a workshop ‘Keeping
People Safe from Abuse’. Over 25 self-advocates attended and the session included
small group exercises, discussion and a role play. Whilst there was some confusion
between the self-advocates as to the definitions of the different types of abuse, all
present recognised when something was wrong and knew who and where to go for help.
Following on from this workshop CLASP have presented others within the learning
disability community and have been given a certificate of recognition by our Prevention
Service, valid for 3 years.
In December 2014 the co productive prevention work began working with the Chartered
Trading Standards Institute to develop a toolkit for Trading Standards Officers. The
purpose of the toolkit is for their officers to have a framework to support them with their
understanding of Adult Safeguarding and when to refer their concerns. The toolkit also
gives examples of good practice. The toolkit was launched at a workshop during their
annual conference in June 2015. The Prevention worker attended this workshop,
supporting the presentation & implementation.
WBC continues to be a member of the steering group for the West of Berkshire Joint
Children’s & Adults Safeguarding Conference and in September we held our fourth
conference about ‘Challenging Cultural Assumptions in Safeguarding’. We continued
on the steering group contributing to the planning of the next conference in September
2016 which was hosted by WBC.
Throughout the year we have hosted a number of community events and supported
partners, i.e. the police, Your Voice in Action, Community Wardens etc. to raise
awareness of what adult safeguarding is and personal safety in general. This has
involved hosting stands, giving out information at the local railway station and
supermarkets as well as visiting community groups. Events supported have included
“Mental Health Awareness”, “National Personal Safety Day” and “Have a Safe
Christmas”.
Priority 3: Ensure effective learning from good & bad practice is shared in order to
improve the safeguarding experience & ultimate outcomes for service users.
Partnership working
•

Design, commission and delivery of joint health and social care “Embedding the
MCA in practice” conferencing with keynote speakers and interactive
4

24

•

•

application to practice workshops. Outcome - sharing skills and knowledge to
promote better outcomes and safeguards for individuals who may lack capacity
in daily practice and in a variety of multi-agency settings.
Promotion of Care Act organisational accountabilities in safeguarding and
commissioned services, by delivery of training and joint response to wider
organisational safeguarding concerns via care governance frameworks.
Outcome - more expedient and proportionate response to concerns utilising
multidisciplinary skills and proactive prevention work on an individual and wide
scale.
Working with community groups, people who use services to raise awareness
of safeguarding and prevention of harm by means of experts by experience
delivering talks, presentations and design of easy read literature within
organisations and the community. Outcome - prevention of harm and awareness
raising promotion of service user voice and empowerment to recognise report
and advocate when a safeguarding issue arises.

How are we Embedding Making Safeguarding Personal and good practice?
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

MSP training was attended by 154 frontline workers and managers
Templates and practice guidance amended and provided for staff and
people
who use services.
All Quality Assurance Measures incorporate the MSP agenda.
Via coaching and conversations with the workforce and wider stakeholders.
Partners have agreed to accept and implement a standard audit template
reflective of MSP requirements, with an aim to promote and provide consistent
measures of safeguarding quality assurance reporting to the SAB.
Partners have reviewed the TOR for all subgroups to ensure the MSP agenda is
a “golden thread” running through all work of the board and partnership agencies.
All Partners identified that specific MSP training needed to be commissioned for
frontline workers and commissioned appropriate training to meet this need.
Our easy read leaflet ‘Keeping Adults Safe from Abuse’ was formally launched
at CLASP’s AGM in July. CLASP is a self-advocacy group for people with a
learning
disability
who
supported
us
with
its
development:
http://www.wokinghamclasp.org.uk/cm/ CLASP’s members contributed to the
design and wording of the leaflet and proof read the final version to ensure that
it was in easy read.

In December we launched our Easy Read Guide to the Adult Safeguarding Process at
The Wokingham Learning Disability Partnership Boards Big Meeting. The board
supported us with its development and design:
http://www.wokinghampartnershipboard.co.uk/ and again ensured that it was in easy
read.
Also during RiPfA (Research in Practice for Adults) a national organisation asked that a
blog about the prevention work be written and work being undertaken in Wokingham
relating to ‘User-involvement in Adult Safeguarding’: https://www.ripfa.org.uk/blog/userinvolvement-in-adult-safeguarding-what-are-you-doing/
To support colleagues with putting the MCA & DoLS into practice our prevention worker
became accredited as a MCA & DOLS Train the Trainer, funded by our local CCG.
Modular workshops to frontline practitioners from both WBC & Optalis staff have been
delivered. The sessions received positive feedback and gave staff an opportunity to
examine individual and organisational practice.

25 5

Priority 4: Co-ordinate & ensure the effectiveness of what each agency does.
Where required through our Care Governance, Level 1 training is provided for specific
providers. Review and support is given to providers in relation to their own ‘in-house’
Adult Safeguarding Training in line with the Berkshire policy and procedures.
Due to an increase in requests for support a guidance framework for an Adult
Safeguarding Policy for providers has been developed. The framework makes
references for the need to consult with the Care Acts’ Care & Support Statutory
Guidance and the CQC as well as ensuring where relevant there is a statement relating
to Safeguarding Children.
Additionally to the SABs’ 4 priorities we have:
Continued to oversee the Safer Places Scheme; unfortunately the funding for the
Champions has come to an end. Attempts have been made to try and secure new
funding. An application has been made to the LDDF (Learning Disability Development
Fund) with an announcement to be made in May. There are now 40 shops & local
businesses actively engaged and signed up to the scheme across the Wokingham
Borough.
To support the council in achieving its statutory requirements relating to the PREVENT
agenda. We now support the Community Wardens to facilitate these sessions across
our wider workforce.
Update from last year’s Prevention work priorities:
•
•
•
•

Easy read version of the adult safeguarding process completed.
The amount of Safer Places premises was increased and initiative shared with
Children’s Services ongoing.
Presented ‘Dignity’ workshops – complete and occurring approximately twice
yearly.
Accredited MCA Train the Trainer Course undertaken – completed, workshops
held and an ongoing training initiative.

Prevention Work Priorities for 2016-17:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Continue to increase the amount of Safer Places premises and support
Children’s Services to utilise the scheme for vulnerable children.
Introduce the new Safer Places Scheme Cards for vulnerable adults in the
community.
Co-produce and present PREVENT workshops to providers and the wider
community.
Support CLASP to facilitate a PREVENT workshop to the learning disabled
community.
Develop formal process to gain feedback from individuals who have experienced
safeguarding enquires with focus on measuring MSP outcomes.
Improve outcomes measures for individuals.

6

26

PERFORMANCE DATA AND ANALYSIS
Safeguarding Activity
Concerns and Enquiries
There have been some changes to the safeguarding adult’s terminology as a result of the Care
Act implementation 2014. Safeguarding alerts are now referred to as concerns and
safeguarding referrals as enquiries. These take the form of Sec 42 Enquiries where the criteria
defined in the statutory guidance is met, or non-statutory enquiries, where the criteria is not met,
but the Authority still has a Power to coordinate an enquiry if decides to do so. Another
mandatory change from last year’s return is to collect information about statutory section 42
safeguarding enquiries only, to replace counts of all safeguarding referrals. This means only
those concerns that progress to statutory enquiry are reported on, those that close at concern
stage, are not.
There were a total of 1495 safeguarding concerns raised in the period 2015-16. The number of
concerns has increased year on year and the overall increase suggests that we are improving
awareness on safeguarding and giving information to everyone on what to do if they come into
contact with adults who are at risk. In WBC the significant increase is also representative of
implementation of operational Quality Assurance framework, in that all alerts received by the
authority are now imputed into the correct work streams and performance reporting frameworks.
39% of these concerns progressed to a s42 enquiry. This is a lower conversion rate compared
to 57% last year demonstrating improved understanding of the safeguarding thresholds with
quality assurance via the operational triage system which has resulted in more consistent and
proportionate responses, reduced caseload impact and more efficient use of staffing resources.
S42 enquiries were opened for 479 individuals during 2015-16, which is a 17% increase from
previous year. This is demonstrates a lower number of repeat concerns for one individual,
which would be indicative of better safeguarding of people the first time round.
Table 1 – Safeguarding Activity 2014-16

2013-14
2014-15
2015-16

Concerns Safeguarding
referrals/S42
enquiries
577
441
868
499
1495
586

Individuals who had
safeguarding
referral/s42 enquiry
373
408
479

Conversion rate
of concern to s42
enquiry
76%
57%
39%

Source of safeguarding enquiries
The highest proportion of safeguarding enquiries (52%) came from social care staff followed by
19% of enquiries referred by health staff. Social care staff category includes LA and independent
sector staff. The percentage of self-referrals and referrals from family members, friends or
neighbours was 17% which shows a good level of awareness within the general community and
is indicative of good preventative work in the community.

27 7

Figure 1 – Safeguarding enquiries by referral source, 2015-16
Police
5%
Friend/neighbour
2%

Other
7%

Family member
11%
Social care staff
52%
Self referral
4%

Health staff
19%

The table below shows comparison of safeguarding enquiries over the past 3 years. As with
previous years the majority of enquiries continue to come from social care staff.


This demonstrates good identification of Safeguarding concerns in the Social
Care Workforce due to training initiatives and awareness-raising.

Table 2 – Safeguarding enquiries by referral source, 2014-16
Referrals
2013/14
Social
Social Care Staff total (CASSR &
249
Care
Independent)
Staff
Of which: Domiciliary Staff
37
Residential/ Nursing Care Staff
155
Day Care Staff
12
Social Worker/ Care Manager
25
Self-Directed Care Staff
2
Other
18
Health
Health Staff - Total
65
Staff
Of which: Primary/ Community Health
41
Staff
Secondary Health Staff
10
Mental Health Staff
14
Other
Self-Referral
16
sources Family member
56
of
Friend/ Neighbour
5
referral Other service user
2
Care Quality Commission
2
Housing
5
Education/ Training/ Workplace
2
Establishment
Police
8
Other
31
Total
441


2014/15
259

2015-16
306

48
139
21
25
3
23
77
38

46
186
15
35
4
20
112
51

21
18
33
68
12
0
3
8
0

40
21
21
65
12
1
1
3
2

6
33
499

27
36
586

A demonstrable increase in referral rates from friends and neighbours (the
8

28

community) since 2014 demonstrates an increased awareness of identifying and
reporting safeguarding concerns. In addition a significant increase of referrals
from police can be demonstrated reflecting better partnership working and
awareness raising with their organisation.





A year on year increase is demonstrated by referral source as
residential/nursing care. This is reflective of a combination of factors,
such as, increased awareness of reporting thresholds, promotion of
transparency and proportionate response to providers, in addition to
increased quality assurance activity within provider services and local
initiatives such as care home support team and rapid response and
treatment team.
A 50% increase is demonstrated from secondary health staff this was a
previous area of low referral rate and may well be indicative of the
appointment of safeguarding leads and quality assurance measures
within health services.

Individuals with safeguarding enquiries
Age group and gender
The table below shows age groups for individuals who had a safeguarding enquiry in the
previous three years. Following last year’s trend there were more referrals from individuals aged
65 years or over than those aged 18-64. The 65 and over age group accounted for 73% of
enquiries. This is indicative of an older age demography within Wokingham and is the same as
national trends and may also be symptomatic of increasing awareness amongst the general
population of abuse or older people following national campaigns.
Table 3 – Age group of individuals with safeguarding enquiries, 2014-16
% of
2015% of
Age band
2013-14
total
2014-15 % of total
16
total
18-64
143
38%
117
29%
128
27%
61
13%
65-74
31
8%
36
9%
120
25%
75-84
81
22%
98
24%
141
29%
85-94
106
28%
131
32%
26
5%
95+
12
3%
23
6%
Age unknown
0
0%
3
1%
3
1%
479
Grand total
373
408
As with previous years more women were the subject of a s42 safeguarding enquiry than males.
63% of safeguarding enquiries started in the year were for females. The number of safeguarding
enquiries for women was more than men in every age group.
Table 4 – Age group and gender of individuals with safeguarding enquiries, 2015-16
Age group
Female
Male
18-64
67
61
65-74
36
25
75-84
77
43
85-94
99
42
95+
20
6
Unknown
1
2
Total
300
179

29 9

The chart below shows safeguarding enquiries increases with age for women indicating
increased likelihood of abuse for older women.
Figure 2 – Enquiries by age group and gender, 2015-16
100%
90%
80%

48%

70%

41%

30%

36%

23%
67%

60%
50%
40%
30%

52%

20%

59%

70%

64%

Male

77%

Female
33%

10%
0%
18-64

65-74

75-84

85-94

95+

Unknown

Age group

Ethnicity
Eighty three percent of all individuals who had a safeguarding enquiry were of white ethnicity.
12% did not have any ethnicity recorded.


Wokingham borough has a predominantly white British population with other
ethnicities only representing … % of the local population.

Figure 3 –Ethnic group of adult at risk, 2015-16

Black
1%

Other
1%
Asian
3%

Refused
0%
Not known
12%

Mixed
0%

White
83%

The table below shows ethnic group by Wokingham population and safeguarding enquiries for
2015-16
Table 5 – Ethnic group by population of Wokingham & safeguarding enquiries 2015-16
Percentage of
Population aged 18 Percentage of
safeguarding
Ethnic group
& over
population
enquiries
White
107307
90%
95%
10

30

Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or Black British
Other ethnic group

1319
7989
1516
789

1%
7%
1%
1%

0%
3%
1%
1%

Source: ONS 2011 Census data
Please note that 60 enquiries were excluded from this table as the population data for ethnicity
refused or not known categories was not available.
The numbers evidence that individuals with white ethnicity are more often being referred to
safeguarding and people with Asian or Asian British ethnicity are less often being referred
although this is likely to be heavily influenced by the locality demographic make-up.
Primary support reason
The table below shows breakdown of individuals who had a safeguarding enquiry by primary
support reason. For the majority of cases the primary support reason was physical support
(47%).

31 11

Table 6 – Primary support reason for individuals with safeguarding enquiries, 2015-16
2015% of
Primary support reason
2014-15
% of total
16
total
225
47%
Physical support
197
48%
13
3%
Sensory support
8
2%
87
18%
Support with memory and cognition
69
17%
101
21%
Learning disability support
99
24%
24
5%
Mental health support
17
4%
9
2%
Social support
6
1%
No support reason
12
3%
19
4%
1
0%
Not known
0
0%
479
408
The chart below shows enquiries broken down by age group and primary support reason.
Individuals who had physical support were more likely to be aged 65 and over whereas those
who had a primary support reason of learning disability were aged 18-64. This may be because
even though older people may have a learning disability due to increasing frailty their primary
need may be for physical support.
Figure 4 - Individuals who had safeguarding enquiry by primary support reason and
age group, 2015-16
100%
90%

5%

12%

80%

1%

46%

Percentage

70%

69%

60%

74%

50%
40%
30%

88%

100% 93%

98%

Unknown
65 and over
18-64

54%

20%
10%

78%

31%

21%

22%

6%

0%
Learning Mental
No
Disability Health support
Support Support reason

2%

not
Physical Sensory Social Support
known Support Support Support
with
Memory
&
Cognition

Case details for concluded enquiries
Type of alleged abuse
Four new categories which have been added on a voluntary basis in the 2015-16 return are
domestic abuse, sexual exploitation, modern slavery and self-neglect.


The distinction in categories and recording remains an ongoing area of
monitoring to ensure practitioners are aware of the definitions and reporting is
accurate.

The table below shows enquiries by type of alleged abuse in the last three years.
Table 7 – Concluded enquiries by type of abuse, 2015-16
Concluded enquiries
2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
165
Physical
185
150
12

32

Sexual
Emotional/Psychological
Financial
Neglect
Discriminatory
Institutional
Domestic abuse
Sexual exploitation
Modern slavery
Self-neglect

17
92
70
162
5
13
-

9
94
57
254
4
23
8
0
0
10

19
78
58
195
6
13
-

The majority of concerns raised related to potential neglect, accounting for 41% of all recorded
risks followed by physical abuse at 26%.


Wokingham has a high density of residential and nursing care settings these
statistic include domiciliary care services and micro providers. As such many
concerns that are reported in these environments are of neglect by omission.

Wokingham have dealt with two cases of alleged modern slavery with positive outcomes under
home office guidance however these were for multiple victims and therefore are not captured in
individual safeguarding performance data.
Figure 5 – Type of abuse, 2015-16
Domestic
Modern slavery
abuse
0%
Institutional 1% Sexual exploitation
0%
4%

Self-neglect
2%

Discriminatory
1%
Physical
26%

Neglect
41%

Emotional
15%

Sexual
1%

Financial
9%

Location of alleged abuse
As with previous years the most common locations where the alleged abuse took place was a
care home or the person’s own home. These statistics reflect the improved quality assurance
framework in commissioned services and proactive safeguarding work under Care Act
requirements.


Wokingham have in excess of 1300 residential and nursing beds in the borough
as such 225 of concerns would only represent as 17.3 % of concerns being within
care home provision. Increased identification of concerns within care home

33 13

settings is also likely to be reflective of increased actively and monitoring within
such settings due to significant increase in Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
assessment in addition to commentary under Table 2.
Table 8 – Location of abuse, 2015-16
2013/14
Location of abuse
195
Care home
Hospital
6
166
Own home
38
Community service
40
Other

2014/15
172
5
195
17
26

2015-16
225
15
211
4
36

The figure below shows location of alleged abuse by source of risk. Where the alleged abuse
took place in the persons own home in the majority of cases (55%) the source of risk was an
individual known to the adult at risk.



A 75% increase in hospital settings demonstrates an improved identification of
safeguarding concerns and accountability within hospital setting.
In comparison community services (a range of day services, leisure etc)
demonstrates a substantial year on year reduction which requires further
exploration.

Figure 6 – Concluded enquiries by location of alleged abuse and source of risk, 2015-16
100%
90%

2%
14%

80%

9%

14%

25%
47%

Percentage

70%

55%

60%

36%

25%

50%
40%

Unknown
84%

30%

Known
53%

20%

50%

50%

Social care support

37%

10%
0%
Care home

Hospital

Own home Community
service

Other

Source of risk

Source of risk
In sixty percent of cases the source of risk was social care support. Social care support refers
to any individual or organisation paid, contracted or commissioned to provide social care support
regardless of funding source and includes services organised by the council and residential or
nursing homes that offer social care services. This category includes self-arranged, self-funded
and direct payment or personal budget funded services. Health or social care staff who are
responsible for assessment, commissioning and care management do not fall under this
category.
The chart below shows breakdown of social care support category.

14

34



Where the source of risk was social care support, residential and nursing care
staff was most commonly reported as the alleged abuser (69%). This again, is
likely influenced by the high density of residential and nursing care settings in the
locality. Domiciliary care staff accounted for 18% of this category.



Increase in the area of source of risk being social care support would be expected
in view of additional category of Neglect and Acts of Omission under The Care
Act implementation,. In this respect the alleged source of risk is mainly the social
care provider as appose to individual social care staff

Figure 7 – Breakdown of alleged social care support to have caused harm, 2015-16

Day Care
1%

Supported
Accommodation
6%

Domiciliary Care
18%

Microprovider
Other 0%
4%

Residential/nursing
care
69%

Personal Assistant
2%

The chart below shows the relationship between the age of the person at risk and the service
type of social care staff as alleged abuser. Where the alleged abuser was residential, nursing
care or domiciliary staff the abuse was related to adults aged 65 and over.

35 15

Figure 8 – Alleged abuser social care support by age group of adult at risk, 2015-16
100%
90%
33%

80%

50%

Percentage

70%
74%

60%
50%

100%

88%

100%

92%

40%

67%

30%

50%

20%
10%
0%

26%
12%

0%

65 and over
18-64

8%

Social care support

Action taken and result
The table below shows concluded enquiries by action taken and result for the last three years.


Statistic demonstrate a 50% reduction in no further action being taken reflecting
a more robust risk management and appropriate care pathway for individuals
subject to safeguarding concerns.

Table 9 – Concluded enquiries by result, 2014-16
2013/14
Result
333
Action Under Safeguarding: Risk Reduced
40
Action Under Safeguarding: Risk Removed
14
Action Under Safeguarding: Risk Unchanged
No Further Action Under Safeguarding
38
425
Total

2014/15
265
46
20
76
407

2015-16
373
46
21
33
473

The chart below shows concluded enquiries by result for 2015-16. In a small number of cases
no action was taken under safeguarding. In some cases this would be at the request of the
person concerned or as a result of other factors. In the majority of the cases the risk was reduced
or removed..

16

36

Figure 9 – Concluded enquiries by result, 2015-16
Concluded enquiries by result, 2015-16

Concluded enquiries

400
350
300
250
200

373

150
100
50

46

0

21

33

Action taken and Action taken and Action taken and No further action
risk reduced
risk removed
risk remains
Result

The chart below shows results of action taken for concluded enquiries by source of risk. For the
majority of cases where action was taken and risk was reduced or removed the source of risk
was social care support. For safeguarding enquiries where action was taken and risk remained
in 48% of cases the individual was known to the person at risk.


In case of risk remaining were a source of risk is known to the individual, this
includes cases of self-neglect and reflects making safeguarding personal
principles of achieving the desired outcomes for the individual with capacity in
line with positive risk taking principles.

Figure 10 – Concluded enquiries by result of action taken and source of risk, 2015-16
100%
90%
80%

5%
(20)
33%
(122)

2%
(1)

14%
(3)

33%
(15)

Percentage

70%
48%
(10)

60%

9%
(3)

39%
(13)

50%

Individual unknown

40%
30%

Individual known

62%
(231)

65%
(30)

Social care support

38%
(8)

20%

52%
(17)

10%
0%
Action taken and
risk reduced

Action taken and
risk removed

Action taken and
risk remains

No further action

Result

Outcomes for the person at risk
The most common outcome for concluded enquiries was increased monitoring. As the chart
below includes concluded enquiries which were not substantiated or inconclusive there are a

37 17

number of no further action outcomes for the person at risk. This may well reflect application of
Making Safeguarding Personal and decisions of capacitated individuals in line with positive risk
taking principles.
 A focus in staff training has been to encourage practitioners to think about
supporting people to recover from abuse and neglect and there is some indication
of this with outcomes such as ‘referral to counselling/training’ and ‘referral to
advocacy scheme’, albeit in small numbers.
Figure 11 - Outcomes for person at risk 2015-16
93

No Further Action

105

Other

0
4

Not Known

Outcomes for person at risk

Referral to MARAC

22
23

Restriction of access to alleged perpetrator
Review of self-directed support

0

Guardianship / use of Mental Health Act

14

Management of access to finances

42

Increased / different care

6
4
0
2
0

Referral to Counselling/Training
Referral to advocacy scheme
Application to change appointeeship
Application to Court of Protection
Civil Action

70

Community Care Assessment & Services

12

Removed from property or service

218

Increased monitoring
0

50

100

150

Total

Outcomes for alleged perpetrator
Table 10 – Outcomes for alleged perpetrator, 2015-16
Outcomes for alleged perpetrator
Total
Criminal prosecution/Formal caution
2
Police action
21
Community care assessment and services
27
Removed from property/service
22
Management of access to person at risk
38
Referred to ISA/POVA
14
Referred to registration body
3
Disciplinary action
47
Action by CQC
1
Continued monitoring
153
Counselling/training/treatment
146
Referral to court mandated treatment
0
Referral to MAAPA
1
Action under MHA
0
Action by contract compliance
38
Exoneration
2
NFA
113
18

38

200

250

Not known


10

Outcomes such as continued monitoring which is demonstrated as a high
percentage at 153 outcomes is reflective of ongoing monitoring requirements via
the care governance and quality assurance framework. This is also reflective of
improved partnership and preventative measure in cases of provider’s services.

Mental Capacity Act and Safeguarding Requirements
The chart below shows were mental capacity was assessed for concluded enquiries. In fifty
percent of cases the individual was found to lack capacity.


This demonstrates improved identification of the need to assess Mental Capacity
in line with Mental Capacity Act and statutory safeguarding requirements.

Figure 12 – Mental capacity, 2015-16
250

237

225

200
150
100
50
11
0
Lacking capacity

Has capacity

N/A - Unable to state as
person deceased or
seriously ill

The chart below shows mental capacity of the person at risk by age group. The figure below
shows the likelihood of the person lacking capacity increases with age with people aged over
95 were most likely to lack capacity at 58% compared to 32% for people aged 65-74. The
majority of people who lacked capacity in the 18-64 age group had a primary support reason of
learning disability.

39 19

Figure 13 – Mental capacity by age group of person at risk, 2015-16
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

32%
47%

55%

53%

58%

50%
Lacks capacity

68%
43%
1%
18-64

65-74

Has capacity

50%

3%
75-84

44%
3%
85-94

42%

95+

50%

Unable to state as person
deceased or seriously ill

not
known

Age group

Of the 237 concluded enquiries where the person at risk lacked capacity in 212 of these cases
support was provided by an advocate, family or friend.


Audit is evidencing that in a high proportion of cases an advocate is being
identified when required this is a substantial improvement in both the protection
and promotion of the person’s rights and legal frameworks.

DEPRIVATION OF LIBERTY SAFEGUARDS

During the period 2015-2016 Wokingham have performed mainly above the national
average and broadly in line or above our peer group comparators. The DOLS service is an
area of continuous improvement and review which has led to more successful practice and
compliance with the legal framework and achievement of statutory rights and protection of
individuals who lack capacity’s Human Rights. This has been achieved through a
combination of initiatives such as targeted training, support, development of a specific
quality assurance framework and redesign of the whole and systems to support service
delivery. It is also reflected in the improved awareness and understanding of the workforce
more generally where the interface of safeguarding Mental Capacity Act 2005 and
Deprivation Of Liberty Safeguards 2007 meet.

20

40

In periods were WBC exceed the national average this correlates to the delivery of Conferences
embedding MCA and DOLS in practice this shows increase understanding of legal requirements
and DOLS in provider service and the wider workforce leading to surge in applications being
received.

This chart demonstrates a broadly similar amount of applications in our peer group comparators
and nation average for the year period.

41 21

The significant difference and increase in applications not completed are indicative of reduction
in the use ,funding and availability of independent Best Interest Assessors in addition to internal
capacity of BIA’s being restricted. The implementation of a waiting list was required and a formal
action plan is currently being monitored and regularly reviewed to mitigate risk.

The significant variation to the change in the count of incomplete applications in comparison to
other authorities and the national average again reflect the above reduction in resource
allocation to target this particular are of work and risk in respect of DOLS applications.

22

42

In the main WBC align with the national average however the increase in March 2016 is likely
a result of regulatory inspection and year end audits by provider or commission services
inclusive of Health partners.

The proportion which was submitted to WBC were in line with the national average, however
the proportion of applications granted were 50 % greater than the national average. This is due
to Urgent applications being a priority in legal and practice risk terms and therefore immediate
allocation is made.

43 23

In all month with the exception of May WBC either met or exceeded the national average of
completed DOLS applications per month.

WBC are performing well above the national average and also broadly in line with or above their
peers in respect of the proportion of completing applications within designated time frames.

24

44

WBC exceed the national average by 22% by completing applications within a three month
period in addition to being broadly in line or exceeding our members of our group. Only two
applications were outstanding after the three month period and none exceed six months wereas
the national average was 12% both at three and six months.

45 25

The proportion of authorisations ending early for Wokingham was 21% less than the national
average and also less that all peer groups in our comparator. It is possible this is reflective of
Wokingham being one of the “top ranking” places to live and keep well in the country.

26

46

Prioritise for Wokingham Borough Council 2016-2017

Priority 1.: Continued community engagement and awareness raising of safeguarding adults
agenda by:
•
Continued focus to increase the amount of Safer Places premises and
support Children’s Services to utilise the scheme for vulnerable children in
the Borough. Including the Introduction of the new Safer Places Scheme
Cards for vulnerable adults in the community.
•
Co-produce and deliver PREVENT workshops to providers and the wider
community. Including focused support to CLASP to facilitate a PREVENT
workshop to people with a learning disability in community.
•
A defined programme of community events for the coming year utilising
existing partnership arrangements, joint initiatives and events.
•
Ongoing promotion and engagement of the Wokingham safeguarding adults
forum.
Priority 2: Measuring outcomes and impact by:
•
•
•
•

Developing more formal processes to gain feedback from individuals who
have experienced safeguarding enquires, with a focus on measuring Making
Safeguarding Personal outcomes
Improve methods of measuring those outcomes for individuals against the
impact safeguarding work has achieved.
Support and develop methods of better service user engagement with the
work of the Safeguarding Adults Board.
Continue to monitor and review how the local authority respond to high
demand and need for development in practice and process to ensure
individuals human rights are upheld in the context of Deprivation of Liberty
Safeguards.

47 27

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.
TITLE

Update on primary care facilities at the Arborfield
SDL

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 5
June 2017

WARD

Arborfield

DIRECTOR

Josie Wragg, Interim Director Environment
Judith Ramsden, Director of People's Services

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Delivery of the appropriate health services to meet the needs of residents of
Wokingham’s Strategic Development Locations, particularly Abrorfield SDL.
RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that this report be noted.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee have requested an update on primary care
facilities at the Arborfield Strategic Development Location (SDL).
It should be noted that whilst the planning process acts as facilitator for healthcare, the
actual commissioning of the primary health services themselves will be via the Clinical
Commissioning Group, with delivery by GPs on the traditional partnership model.

49

Background
Arborfield SDL is one of four strategic sites conceived in the Wokingham Borough Core
Strategy which was adopted in 2010 and is the largest of the 4 at around 3,500 new
dwellings.
Drawings showing the boundary of the SDL, masterplan and 3 walkable districts: -

In the Core Strategy 2010 the then Berkshire West Primary Care Trust (BW-PCT) led on
providing support for healthcare delivery and their view was that they anticipated a new
GP practice may be required in Arborfield (pp 19 para 2.60 refers). Appendix 7, pp100/1,
paras A7.9 A7.13 also refer.
In 2011 we adopted supplementary planning documents which provide a masterplan
framework providing 3 walkable districts, the largest in the centre was suggested to have
a Health Centre (pp59 refers). The concept was to ensure that residents of the new
homes in the SDL could walk to as many facilities and services as possible in the interests
of sound planning, sustainability and health.
The land ownership in Arborfield is in 2 main sections, North 2,000 units being in the
hands of Crest (on behalf of the MoD/DIO) and South 1,500 units in the hands of the
Marino family.
The main District Centre for the SDL would fall into the northern section under Crest and
their outline planning permission (O/2014/2280) facilitates the delivery of a Health Care
Site (S106 agreement Schedule 4 / Part 5) Facility of no less than 800 sqm. Crest have
agreed to submit a Marketing Strategy for the Healthcare Site and to undertake three
periods each of six months marketing for this purpose (At occupation of the 500th, 1000th
and 1,500th Dwelling). If on conclusion the marketing has been unsuccessful, then Crest
shall be released from this requirement.
Analysis of Issues
Whilst the WBC planning process for Arborfield SDL has moved forward based on the
guidance of the BW-PCT, the control of this function now rests with the Wokingham
Clinical Commissioning Group. (W-CCG) who have become responsible for
commissioning GP services. NHS England remains responsible for commissioning
decisions on pharmacy, dental and optometry provision and in relation to interest from
Dental practitioners that would be a decision for NHS England.

50

Department of Health guidance for commissioning primary healthcare is changing in
response to the emerging crisis in recruitment and retention of GP’s, the delivery of
General Practice “at scale” and a desire to enhance ‘out of hospital’ community health
services. CCG’s must also bid for capital funds (Estates Technology Infrastructure Fund
- ETIF) associated with General Practice commissioning. All of these factors will need to
be considered by the CCG in discharging its primary care commissioning responsibility.
The CCG must also engage with stakeholders in its deliberations and that includes the
Council as the planning authority and the communities affected. The Wokingham
Borough Health and Wellbeing Board has a role to ensure any proposed arrangements
will achieve the best outcomes for residents and that dialogue is ongoing.
An ongoing dialogue has been established with the CCG to determine their intentions in
respect of health care provision for the SDL. At our most recent meeting with the CCG it
was stated that their plans are to address the GP requirements for Arborfield via
enhancement of services at the already established surgeries (probably those located in
Swallowfield, Finchampstead, and Brookside in Lower Earley).
WBC were also advised that the CCG had bid for funding to facilitate their intentions via
the ETIF and received an award of 66%. The CCG have informally enquired whether
WBC are would release S106 funding to facilitate the balance of this funding. No formal
response has been issued from the Council to this request however it has been advised
that the new strategy be shared with stakeholders and once a position has been
formally agreed, decisions on funding can be considered.
Unallocated (and as yet unreceived – i.e./ in un-triggered S106s) funds for Health
provision through the wider group of SDLs currently stands at £865,812. The CCG have
been requested to set out their proposals in more detail for consideration and in
particular the rationale for health services provision where it varies from that anticipated
through delivery of the Core Strategy 2010.
Katie Summers, Director of Operations, at Wokingham Clinical Commissioning Group
put a report entitled “Meeting the Primary Care Health Needs of Wokingham Borough’s
Major Growth Areas” to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 10th November 2016. The
report sought that it: (1) Note the direction of travel set out within the attached report.
(2) Support proposal for a working group to oversee the development of primary
health care.
No decisions have yet been made in the context of releasing S106 monies.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)

51

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?

Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
N/A
Cross-Council Implications
N/A
Reasons for considering the report in Part 2
N/A
List of Background Papers
1. Core Strategy 2010
2. Arborfield SDL SPD 2011
3. Infrastructure SPG 2011
4. Health and Wellbeing Board on 10th November 2016. Report entitled ‘Meeting the
Primary Care Health Needs of Wokingham Borough’s Major Growth Areas’
Contact Mark Cupit / Darrell Gale
Telephone No 0118 974 6487 /
07885 989172
Date 3 May 2017

Service Environment / Health & Wellbeing
Email mark.cupit@wokingham.gov.uk /
darrell.gale@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

52

Agenda Item 8.

Healthwatch Wokingham Borough
Review of Extra Care Services
May 2017

53

1

Contents
Executive Summary………………………………………………………………………………………2
What is Extra Care?......................................................................................................................3
Why we decided to explore Extra Care………………………………………………..……………….4
Wokingham Borough context …………………………………………………………….……………..4
Findings…………………………………………………………………………………..………………..6
Managing expectations of Extra Care Schemes……………………………………............………..9
Tension between independent living & the need for coordinated support………….………….…10
Lack of diverse range of activities………………………………………………..………..………….12
Poor transport links………………………………………………………………………….………….13
Links with local community…………………………………………………..………….…………….14
Quality of care: task focused versus person focused………………………………….….………..15
Recommendations for the new Wokingham Extra Care schemes………………………..………15
Table 1: Summary findings from surveys……………………………………………………………17
Next steps……………………………………………………………………………………………….20

About Healthwatch Wokingham Borough
Healthwatch Wokingham Borough is the independent health and social care champion for local
people. We work to ensure your voice counts when it comes to shaping and improving services.
We address inequalities in health and care, to help ensure everyone gets the services they
need. There are local Healthwatch across the country as well as a national body, Healthwatch
England.

Executive Summary
Healthwatch Wokingham Borough interviewed residents and staff in the Borough’s 3 existing
Extra Care Schemes. Healthwatch were interested in how living in Extra Care schemes enabled
people to have a good quality of life, improved independence and decreased isolation and
loneliness.
Grounded theory methodology was used to analyse interviews and the following themes have
been identified; the importance of good design, managing expectations of what Extra Care
schemes can and can’t provide, a tension existed between staff seeing Extra Care as
independent living but residents wanting coordinated support to enable opportunities for social
gatherings, the importance of having a diverse and varied range of activities available, the
importance of transport links in ensuring residents do not get cut off from town and quality of

54

2

care. The intention is that the lessons learnt and recommendations made in this report are used
to inform the 2 new Extra Care Schemes opening in the Borough late 2017.

What is Extra Care?
An Extra Care development offers the opportunity for independent living with flexible services
available to help support people in their daily lives. Extra care housing is made up of two parts:
the physical building comprising of self-contained units and communal areas, and the care and
support services that can be bought in by individuals.
Extra Care schemes aim to foster a community feel where people can get involved with events,
daily activities or just enjoy spending time with neighbours.

55

3

See our factsheet for a fuller description of Extra Care
https://magic.piktochart.com/embed/18234265-extra-care-housing-factsheet-healthwatchwokingham

Why we decided to explore extra care
•
•
•
•
•

There is not much information available about the quality and safety of these types of
services
With a rapidly ageing population in Wokingham and the resulting demographic
pressures, such as conditions like dementia, demand for these services are increasing
Wokingham Borough Council is planning to expand extra care provision with 2 new
facilities due to open late 2017
There is an opportunity to better understand the views and the extent to which people
are satisfied with living in extra care housing.
Discussions with members of the Optalis team helped bring to life the issues and
complexities around Extra Care. (Optalis is the care provider in relation to all the
services featured. Optalis will also be the care provider in the new schemes )

Wokingham Borough Context
Wokingham Borough currently has 3 extra care schemes
Alexandra Place South Lake Crescent, Woodley, Reading, Berkshire, RG5 3QW. (landlord
Central & Cecil Housing)
Beeches Manor Reading Road, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG41 1AA. (landlord Housing 21)
Cockayne Court 109 Arnett Avenue, Finchamstead, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40
4ED.(landlord Wokingham Borough Council)
Wokingham Borough Council, in the Older People’s Housing Strategy 2014-19, has made a
strategic commitment to provide sufficient options for people to remain independent in their
own homes for as long as possible. “The Council’s long term vision is to increase

diversity of provision for older people in the Borough, which will require intense
growth of extra Care facilities over the next 10 years.”
There are plans for 2 further extra care schemes underway; A £4 million development on the
site of the former Fosters Care Home in Fosters Lane, 34 self- contained flats for elderly
people will include communal facilities such as a lounge and dining room, as well as a
specialist dementia facility. To be run by Optalis
and
The Birches will offer a range of one and two bedroom apartments aimed at over 55s, with a
maximum purchase of up to 75% shared ownership or to rent to be run by Housing Solutions

56

4

National Context
Where there is “regulated activity” such as personal care, delivered by a care provider in an
Extra Care Setting, a new Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection framework for adult
social care which considers whether services are safe, effective, caring, responsive and wellled, and also pass the ‘mum’ test that prompts inspectors to consider whether they would be
happy for a member of their own family to receive the service.
The Care Act 2014 requirements places a central duty on local authorities and housing
associations to consider how to meet each person’s specific needs, rather than simply
considering what service they will fit into. ‘Wellbeing’ is a broad concept. It is described as
relating to the following areas in particular:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

personal dignity (including treatment of the individual with respect)
physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing
protection from abuse and neglect
control by the individual over their day-to-day life (including over care & support provided and
the way they are provided)
participation in work, education, training or recreation
social and economic wellbeing
domestic, family and personal domains
suitability of the individual’s living accommodation
the individual’s contribution to society.
Our objectives
We wanted to hear what those living in Extra Care schemes thought and were interested in how
Extra care enabled people to have a good quality of life and in particular whether it:
•
•

improves and maintains people’s independence whilst keeping them safe
decreases social isolation and loneliness.

To help us build a picture of life in extra care, we focused on residents’ experience of services
both within and beyond the scheme, the social opportunities on offer, and levels of resident
engagement in the running of the scheme. As all but one of the schemes had a separate
landlord and care provider, we also looked at collaboration between the services at each site.
We intend that the lessons learnt from this study will prevent older Wokingham Borough
residents experiencing the same issues and isolation.
What we did
A group of volunteer drivers in Wokingham asked their passengers if they had considered
where they would live if they couldn’t stay in their own home. Overwhelmingly 95% respondents
had not given any thought to or made plans about future living arrangements. Leaving it too late
to make decisions about your future may limit the possibilities and choices.
We surveyed residents and staff from the 3 existing extra care schemes: Alexandra Place,
Beeches Manor and Cockayne Court.

57

5

Findings
In this section, we present the themes that we found from speaking to residents and aim to
assess how successful Wokingham’s extra care schemes are in enabling independence,
preventing isolation and supporting residents to enjoy a good quality of life.
Design of Extra Care schemes
Research has shown that the way a building is procured, designed and configured, and the
services that are provided within it, has a direct impact on the ability of Extra Care housing to
deliver successful outcomes for older people
The planning process needs to be considered There is frequently a mismatch between the
design used to obtain planning permission and that which is actually built. Holistic planning and
co-ordination throughout the whole process from concept to materialisation is needed, rather
than a number of interested parties each making an uncoordinated contribution, with no overall
supervision or monitoring of the process.
Most importantly, commissioners and developers of Extra Care schemes, need to recognise
that first and foremost they are designing people’s homes not institutions. There should be
consideration for the space being created to meet not only the needs of its future residents but
also the staff that will use it as a place of work, and visitors who may use it as a community
resource.
There is a need to consider scheme “rules” e.g. residents with 2 bedrooms at Alexandra Place
are not supposed to have guests stay in their 2nd bedroom but are expected to pay £25 per night
for the Guest Suite.
We found that attention paid to small details, just as you would have a snag list when buying
your own home, would vastly improve the usability of the building

“I have only had 2 showers in 2 years. In my walk in shower they put up a grab
handle that just uses suction to attach to the wall, I am not confident it will not
detach if I grab hold of it as it is not permanently secured into the wall, so I don’t
have regular showers.”

“Top flats the sun beams in through the large windows all day and it’s blinding
but I am not allowed to put up a sun shade on the balcony so I retreat into my
bedroom.”
Communal areas within Extra Care were seen as being very important. Having a communal
area that was set up to enable the provision of additional services such as meals etc. Having a
place like a coffee shop was seen as a good place to informally get together and chat rather
than having to attend an activity in the day room.
Many people spoke to us about their desire for a small shop whether run by the community or
by a local business to act as a social hub for the community, as well as supporting independent
living.

58

6

The furnishing of the Extra Care scheme communal areas contributes to the atmosphere
created. We saw drab furnishings and armchairs that were not suitable for the elderly to get of
due to being low and the seats tilted backwards.
Wokingham Borough Council setting out the following criteria at the outside of building Beeches
Manor :
“the design must offer a safe and secure environment, which provides flexibility to meet

future needs and requirements of an ageing population. The council expects all
dementia residents to have care needs with an estimated average of 20 hours of care
per week needed.
The development should include appropriate technology and telecare systems capable
of supporting individuals with dementia in their own home. Key partnerships with health,
social care and supported housing are absolute requirements to ensure the
development and delivery of housing. Care and support services that are coordinated
ad responsive to the changing needs and aspirations of older people.”
With regards security, we found that Beeches Manor had an open-door policy with no secure
areas at any time of day or night, despite housing people with dementia. If a resident goes
wandering off or is missing staff would call next of kin and then the police. The daily Welfare
Check by staff is free here in some schemes across the country this is a paid for service. This
poses a true difficulty trying to balance individual’s choice with safety. The Care Quality
Commission takes a view on independent living environments having to coax residents back
into the schemes as bordering Deprivation of Liberty, seeing the individual as being entitled to
leave when they wish to and of their own free will. This has led to confusion of responsibilities
between the provider and Local Authority, leading to the service being penalized for not
safeguarding residents. Guidance needs to be provided to prevent confusion.

59

7

Key location factors have been summarized by HousingLIN

Whilst many residents were complimentary about the garden areas, they were not always
supported to get out, some men spoke about the desire to have a “men’s shed” they could
retreat to. It was suggested that local volunteers could come in and help with the upkeep and
maintenance of the gardens. The pleasantness of the outdoor environment is known to be
significantly associated with people’s perception of their quality of life.
Future proofing through design to ensure best use of scarce resources, commissioners,
developers and providers will need to provide homes that meet the needs of their residents for
as long as possible, ideally a “home for life” (www.lifetimehomes.org.uk) and HAPPI
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-our-ageing-population-panel-forinnovation)
Housing LIN have produced resources on including Extra Care design guides, case studies of
design in practice and tools for evaluating design features
(https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/Design-building/Design/)

60

8

Key messages
Lessons need to be learnt from past mistakes around design in housing for older people to
ensure today’s extra care housing is not only fit for purpose now, but will still be an attractive
and effective option in the future.
Design can impact on the use of the building, how people live and ultimately their health and
wellbeing. A lack of on-site facilities can limit opportunities for social interaction: a shop, a
restaurant and an accessible garden are particularly important in this respect
Lots of people we spoke to said they wanted the facilities but the reality was that they were not
used extensively.
Consideration to be given as to how the Extra Care Scheme will integrate with the local
surrounding community.
The absence of a comfortable and affordable guest room can discourage friends and relatives
from visiting residents and providing essential social contact.
Clarity is needed between provider, regulator and local authority, around independent living
environments enabling resident choice and free will to come and go as they wish, balanced with
safeguarding those who may have diminished capacity.

Managing Expectations of Extra Care schemes
There is no single model of “Extra Care.” Extra Care means different things to the many
different stakeholders; resident, family members, care providers, landlords, builders,
commissioners/funders.
For all parties, clarity over boundaries, roles and responsibilities is crucial. There is a danger
that marketing material can overplay Extra Care environments as vibrant retirement lifestyles.
We heard many residents feel disappointed that they had been sold something to different to
what they got. The concept of a “home for life! In this setting cannot cover physical nursing
needs.
“I was told when I moved here there would be a doctor or nurse visiting once a week in a
purpose built consulting room,. It has never happened.”

“I thought the scheme was closer to the shops than it is, I was shown the shops in a car
so it seemed like a short trip.”
We found variation in resident characteristics that can include their tenure (shared ownership or
renting), financial position, the level and nature of care and support needs and the extent of their
support networks (including whether they have a partner, or family who are involved in their care
and support). There was evidence of some tensions between residents with different
characteristics, and the knock-on effects on boundaries, roles and responsibilities and
partnership

61

9

“I was told that the dementia unit would be separate and the dementia residents would
not use the communal areas which they do and this causes problems”
We were confused that at Alexandra Place the landlord, Cecil & Central, took responsibility for
the activities, a task that does not normally fall under the remit of a landlord.
Information in the printed materials could be misleading.
“The handout I was given said that things could be arranged and done for me, but after
moving in I was told this is independent living not a care home.”
We recommend that all printed materials, leaflets and communications about Extra Care living is
clear, including stating which support services depend on assessment of need or having to be
paid for. Older people’s uncertainties need to be addressed such as “What happens if I can’t
afford to stay here?” “If my care needs increase will I be able to get the support I need?” “Will I
be able to stay here until the end of my life?”
How residents get their views heard and concerns addressed became apparent on our visit to
Cockayne Court. More than a year ago residents were advised the Court and the attached day
centre were closing and the area being redeveloped and that they would all be moved to the
new Extra Care development at Fosters site when it was completed.
This has been on their minds (and those of the staff) causing anxiety about the move and the
cost etc. They mistakenly took the Healthwatch survey as part of that consultation process. As
there is no strategic lead at Wokingham Borough Council for Extra Care currently the care
company had a briefing with staff to clarify any confusion.
When Alexandra Place was first built the average age of residents was on average late 60s
early 70s, now years on, the scheme has more older residents (average age is in the 80s), less
able to organize things, more frail and with greater care needs. This has fundamentally changed
the day to day feel of the place.

Key messages
There may well be a plethora of organisations involved in Extra Care schemes, across housing
management, support, care, catering and other roles, each with a slightly different view on what
Extra Care should be. We anticipate that what may matter more than number of organisations
involved is how relationships are established (at the commissioning stage) and then managed,
both formally (e.g. with protocols) and informally at all levels including on the frontline.
Consider the role of information and marketing materials and how it is used to set the scene for
Extra Care
Consideration to be given to managing variation in resident characteristics and staff
management expectations of residents’ capabilities.
Tension between independent living & the need for coordinated support

62

10

It is recognised that independence is one of the most important things to people as they get
older. Most people want to be able to do what they want, when they want. Support from either
family and friends or formal carers to maintain a level of independence, particularly when
mobility is limited is key to maintaining independence. Healthwatch recognises that people who
are supported and able to adapt to changing health needs are able to enjoy a better quality of
life.
In all 3 of the Extra Care schemes we visited we picked up on a palpable tension between staff
saying “this is independent living, residents are free to arrange activities themselves” and
residents saying “we are not supported in activities or getting out.” Staff to recognize the need
for many older people to be reminded about activities when they are about to happen, rather
than rely on a plan sent round in advance. The café staff at Alexandra were observed doing this.
We asked what residents thought of the communal facilities:
“alright but only a few people come together. There is not a social life really.

“There is not enough to do to create a social life here, there is a real need for more
variety of events”
We know that it takes time and effort to get an active social life going. It is much more
complex than putting up a poster and inviting people. The endeavour needs to be resourced.
We asked how they would describe the atmosphere in general;
“not very enthusing. Lots of people keep themselves to themselves”
Almost all interviewees said that they felt isolated or lonely and wanted more opportunity for
social contact. Our interviews posed a real issue between staff wanting to respect the
independence and privacy of residents but residents craving more coordination and support
from staff to mobilize opportunities to get together and socialize.
This presents a challenge to front line staff who are busy doing their day job, some staff we
spoke to gave up their own time to enable social activities or outings. The discreet involvement
of staff with resident-led groups can ensure that residents with higher support needs are given
the opportunity to participate in resident-led activities
Consideration should be given as to how staff can facilitate more interaction between residents.
In each of the 3 schemes we visited we were able to identify an informal resident champion or
mobiliser … the person that encourages others to chat or get involved. This should be an idea
that is formalized and built upon to ensure sustainability.
The facilities can actually provide barrier free accessible environments that foster social
interaction. Residents at Alexandra Place spoke about how the restaurant was a hub that
brought people together. It was seen by residents as the place to meet other people and where
friendships developed. When it closed for 4.5 months no temporary arrangements were put in
place ad residents had to make do with getting frozen meals and cooking for themselves. This
was an advertised facility for which some people had moved from other supported housing.
Other Extra Care schemes across the country have opened their restaurants to the wider public

63

11

as a community resources which increased opportunities for residents to engage with others.
Alexandra Place has done this but it doesn’t seem widely known or advertised. Insufficient use
risks such facilities closing down.
The physical environment of Extra Care schemes, and the willingness of organisations and staff
to share these facilities and work with external groups, is an important incentive that will
ultimately reduce social isolation.

Key messages
Health, social care & housing service providers to reflect on the importance of supporting social
interaction amongst residents in Extra Care settings, rather than relying exclusively on resident
led approaches.
Health, social care & housing service providers to make a commitment to change and devote
resources to supporting the development of inclusive, active communities.
Lack of diverse range of activities
Activities are a crucial way that older people can build and maintain social networks with other
residents, staff, and others beyond extra care. In extra care schemes, these can include daily
activities such as the traditional bingo or arts and crafts sessions however this is not enough! A
wide range of activities need to be made available such as Tai Chi, wheelchair aerobics,
mindfulness sessions, hand massage and entertainment such as karaoke or theatre trips. There
is a need to take into account a wide range of ability levels and interests when planning
activities so that all residents have the opportunity to take part. Even more mundane things such
as eating together or coffee mornings can provide opportunity for social interaction.
A substantial body of literature on social isolation and loneliness among older people finds that
activity based interventions are often the most effective in reducing isolation and loneliness.
Activities can either be arranged by staff or be resident led. We found that residents wanted and
needed staff support to avail of opportunities to be more socially active, especially as they age.
However we found some staff to have the attitude that residents can arrange things for
themselves if they wish.

“Better activities inside and outside the home. We are missing a bit of fun in our
lives. We need things to do.”

“I have never been asked what activities I particularly like. I would enjoy going to
the cinema and the theatre as a group or coach trip to the coast but don’t know if
that is possible, We need people joining up doing shared things also be nice if
someone could bring in pets for us to see, like a visiting dog”
Care Homes will usually employ an activities coordinator, Extra Care schemes usually don’t
usually have a designated person to coordinate activities. It can be difficult to draw the line
between the needs of residents in Extra Care and Residential Care Homes. Some schemes rely
on the goodwill of volunteers in organising activities in their spare time.

64

12

“There are not many men here so difficult to have a male focused activity. I used
to have a volunteer who came into help me with computer but due to my hospital
appointments I could not always guarantee I would be here so he stopped
coming.”
Reducing social isolation is one of Wokingham Borough Council’s strategic commissioning
priorities with less than 50% of Wokingham Borough Council’s customers have as much social
interaction as they would like (source: Adult Social Care Outcomes)
An important aspect of how activities are organized is funding. It is important that sufficient
funds are available to support the provision and enablement of a range of activities in order to
promote social well-being. It would be helpful if activities did not clash – at Alexandra Place
residents had to choose between getting the Readibus to Sainsbury’s for their shopping or
going to the computer class, which both took place on a Wednesday morning.
In 2015, Healthwatch Lambeth reviewed the borough’s Extra Care schemes. Although the level
of care and amenities at schemes were generally good many residents said they felt lonely and
cut off from the community. In response, in spring 2016 Lambeth Council provided a grant of
£4,000 to each scheme for activities, which it hopes to make available on an annual basis.

Key messages
There is a real appetite amongst Extra Care residents for opportunities to socialize and play an
active part in the community, with some support from staff to get off the ground.
It will remain important for Commissioners to invest in and monitor the impact of social
interaction, particularly in older people in Extra Care schemes in reducing social isolation and
loneliness.
Incorporate detailed information on care and support plans for each individual, their interests,
hobbies and preferences for activities.
Encourage volunteering: find ways to enable people in the local community to help out with
specific events and take part in fund-raising activities. Former staff or residents’ family contacts
and friends can be ‘champions’ for promoting voluntary work within extra care settings

Poor transport links
Mobility is a fundamental component of our lives; shaping the way we behave and our
independence. Residents in all 3 schemes shared frustrations at the difficulty in accessing
activities in the community due to poor transport links.

“not a lot of transport available in Finchampstead. If you don’t have a car, family
members visiting or a support worker under a care plan it is difficult to go
anywhere other than walk to the local community shop.”

65

13

“Readibus is not flexible enough and taxis are too expensive”
“I tried to use Redibus but was told as I am mobile and I can walk to the bus stop
I should use public transport. There are no shops locally. I have dietary needs
due to a diary intolerance so have to get 2 buses when I want to go and get my
shopping”
“Readibus changed their timetable recently, the bus comes later and we only get
30 minutes in Woodley before we have to come back. We used to have longer,
now we cant meet friends in a local café as there is not enough time”
The bus stops nearest to Alexandra Place, to go to Woodley centre, have been moved and
residents expressed concern about having to now cross a busy road to get the bus.
Give consideration to approaching bus companies to see if this could be addressed by agreeing
to add extra stops on existing routes as close as possible to any Extra Care facility. Possibly on
a ‘hail and ride’ basis.
The state of Wokingham pavements meant that many of the residents we spoke to felt unsteady
and unsafe going into town, this particularly impacted on those with impaired mobility. Several
residents talked about using their scooters as a way of getting out and about, allowing them
access to local pubs and amenities. They also identified how poorly maintained footpaths and
anxiety about crossing local roads could act as barriers to visiting local amenities.
“I have an electric scooter but don’t use it as the pathways aren’t good and are narrow”
Residents spoke about not having a nominated GP for the Extra Care scheme meant that they
had to make their own way to the surgery. Having a flu clinic on site would prevent many
individuals making a difficult journey, particularly if frail or disabled to the surgery. Some
Alexandra Place residents found it impossible to contact their surgery by telephone and were
taking a taxi (cost £5 each way) to go and make an appointment for a later date, which then
involved a second taxi fare for the actual appointment.

Key messages
A lack of affordable, accessible transport can be a barrier to residents who want to access
facilities and social networks in the wider community
Wokingham Borough needs to support more flexible transport solutions for older people to keep
mobile – for example organisation such as Wokingham Volunteer Car drivers offering a driver
for a couple of hours on a pre-arranged day to take people to the shops.
Community transport such as Redibus to allow for more flexible journeys and consider a more
passenger centric approach to timetabling and eligibility.
Planners to ensure good access to local footpaths, bus routes, post boxes and pedestrian
crossings in order to allow residents to get out and interact with the local community.
Health providers to consider providing focused clinics at Extra Care schemes to prevent lots of
frail elderly people have to make journeys to the surgery

66

14

Links with local community
Residents of an Extra Care scheme can be linked to the local community in a variety of ways –
for example, through maintaining links with friends and family in the community, by using the
local amenities or via people coming into the scheme, either to provide a service (e.g.
entertainment) or to use the facilities.
The ability to engage with community activities was linked to a range of factors, including the
availability and accessibility of transport, the quality of pavement access for electric scooters
and the support of care staff.
Those residents who were not able to access the community because of lack of mobility or illhealth suggested that this affected their general sense of well-being, largely because they felt
restricted and missed doing activities they had enjoyed in the past.
Location within the community is of considerable importance in the development of Extra Care
housing and can mean the difference between a scheme and its residents being part of an
external community, or remaining segregated and isolated.
Many residents told us that they felt isolated and were unable to access the local community:

“People from the community come in rarely. A local day centre for the learning
disabled comes in once a week to the communal area”

“I am happy in my home but there is not a feel of community here and I don’t get
to mix regularly with the outside community”

Quality of Care: Tasks focused vs. person focused
All of the residents that we spoke to were very complimentary about the staff that worked within
the Extra Care schemes – whether that be the manager, carers or chest, however staff that
visited from external agencies or Agency staff were found often to be in a rush, which made
people feel like they were not cared for.
If residents have a package of care, there will be a plan of what this should entail – this is
costed and has a time period for the task to be carried out in. The difficulty that care staff have
is being able to fit in is not deviating from the task list and carrying out personal care within a set
(limited) period of time.
I am sure that every care agency aspires to a person-centred approach to care provision, which
in turn can contribute towards social wellbeing. Recognizing the value and importance of
investing in relationships
A key working systems can maximize the benefits of interaction with staff, particularly for
residents at the greatest risk of social exclusion.

67

15

Key messages
For some residents, care staff are a major source of social interaction. Task-led systems of care
provision can limit the opportunities for staff and residents to interact.
Provision of a free of charge “Daily Welfare Check” at all sites would assist in making residents
feel secure and an opportunity to build relationships. This is applied inconsistently - free at
Cockayne Court but is charged for at Alexandra Place, where one resident expressed her
concern about people being found dead in their apartment.

Recommendations for the new Wokingham Borough Extra Care Schemes
We have identified a range of recommendations from our review which we would welcome the
opportunity to explore with commissioners, providers and residents. We hope that lessons learnt
can be incorporated into the new schemes
1. Design
Attention to small design details such as grab rails and blinds can make a huge difference to
how residents use a space.
Create opportunities for people to meet in casual communal areas such as a coffee shop or
shop, not necessary formal spaces like an activities room.
When choosing sites for future schemes, commissioners should prioritise good public transport
links and proximity of appropriate community facilities and amenities.
Consider use of volunteers to maximize the use of outside garden space. Consider projects for
men such as “men’s sheds”
Clarity is needed between provider, regulator and local authority, around independent living
environments enabling resident choice and free will to come and go as they wish, balanced with
safeguarding those who may have diminished capacity.

2. Managing expectations
Commissioners to consider how relationships are established between all the stakeholders and
then managed, both formally and informally, at all levels, including on the front line.
Marketing materials to provide clear information about what Extra Care can and can’t offer
Potential residents to spend a “try before you buy” weekend in the Extra Care Scheme in order
to gauge distance to shops etc.
Create opportunities for residents views, opinions, concerns and preferences to be heard and
addressed.
3. Tension between independent living and coordinated support
Consideration how staff can facilitate more interaction between residents

68

16

Identifying a resident mobilizer or champion and creating a role description for that person
Commissioners and Providers to commit to resourcing the development of inclusive, active
communities within each scheme.
4. Diversifying activities
Incorporate detailed information on residents interests, hobbies and leisure pursuits into their
care plans
Encourage volunteering and ways to enable people from the community to help out
Commissioners and providers should consider investing in a borough-wide collaborative
programme to support activities including:
• volunteer recruitment and management for activities and befriending
• shared trips programme with accessible transport
• enabling resident access to other existing community activities/schemes & devising joint
initiatives with appropriate voluntary and community organisations eg intergenerational activities
with youth groups and schools.
5. Transport links
Wokingham Borough Council to consider the development of more flexible transport solutions to
keep people mobile
Community transport to allow for more flexible journeys and a passenger centric approach to
timetabling.
Town planners and Public Health to be mindful of access to footpaths wide enough to
accommodate an electric scooter
Health providers to consider holding clinics within Extra Care schemes to maximize take up and
minimize individuals travelling to surgery
6. Care: Task focused vs. person focused
Schemes to consider a key working system to maximise the benefits of interaction with staff

69

17

Table 1 – Summary Findings from surveys

Alexander Place

Cockayne Court

Beeches Manor

Provider:
Landlord: Central & Cecil

Provider: Optalis
Landlord: Wokingham
Council

Provider Optalis
Landlord: Housing &
Care 21

Pleasant and well sized,
well maintained, lawns,
shrubs, planters and
seating areas
Wide corridors and
doorways, communal
spaces underused lounge
decoration, furnishings,
carpets very drab in
colour

Large rear garden

Good although one
person said ensure what
to do in event of fire, one
said feel isolated when
icy weather as paths
around scheme not deiced
Underused facility. Some
residents unhappy that it
was closed for a period,
some said not enough
choice, didn’t cater for
one resident dietary
need

Good

Resident Profile
Physical
Environment Exterior
Physical
Environment Interior

Safety and
Security

Communal
Eating Facilities

Friendships &
Activities

Evidence of

Neighbourliness but
not a lot of apparent
strong friendships.
Feeling of isolation due
to distance from town
and infrequent
transport. Some
activities but the ‘usual
suspects’ with low take

Older building so corridors
and doorways narrower. 2
brightly, invitingly
decorated communal
lounges separated by bright
dining area

Very new building,
wide corridors and
doorways. Bright and
light but underused
central open plan
kitchen/dining area.
Underused bright
communal lounge area
Good although some
concern about
dementia residents
being able to walk out
of scheme towards
busy road

Residents positive about
choice and cost and ability
to use for breakfast and
lunch

Whilst there is
communal kitchen and
dining area no meals
are prepared by
staff/contractor there
so very underused.
Residents eat in their
flats
Some friendships evident as Concerns about lack of
some residents have been
activities although
living there some time.
there was an activities
Concerns that very few
book that said all the
men residents/staff so
right things and
lacking male interaction
included variety. There
Not a lot of activities and
had been some in the
question about whether
past including variety
they match residents
e.g. eukalale players
interests. Some isolation
coming into scheme.
due to location and
Whilst close to town

70

18

Community
Integration

up. Lack of activities
evenings/weekends
and support for
residents to create
their own programs of
interest as they are
classed as independent
livers. Residents not
doing the activities
they did before moving
into scheme

infrequent transport. Belief
that volunteers could
improve things like
volunteer gardeners
involving residents, ‘men in
sheds’ type projects.
Volunteers coming in to
teach things like IPAD use

some residents felt
isolated and said they
wouldn’t use their
mobility scooter or
walk as pathways and
pavements around
Wokingham Town
were too uneven.

Little evidence of
community regularly
coming into scheme
apart from visit once a
week by users of
Woodley Day Centre.
Residents feeling isolated
from community due to
poor and infrequent
transport

No evidence of community
coming into the scheme on
a regular basis. Some
residents said they feel
isolated due to location of
the scheme and infrequent
transport

No evidence of
community regularly
visiting the scheme,
primarily family
visitors. Residents
would rely on family
members to take them
out into local
community, one
resident regularly went
into town each day

71

19

Next steps
Recognition that suitable housing only goes so far in maintaining health and wellbeing. The
neighbourhoods in which homes are located provide resources that people need such as
transport, shops, social contact, involvement in local issues and services, information and
access to green space. With 2 new Extra Care Schemes about to come on board we are keen
to understand how citizens of all ages are involved in designing and improving the space they
live in
We will invite commissioners and providers to a seminar in September 2017 to discuss the
issues and recommendations raised here and to encourage stakeholders to identify practical
actions to pledge.
The seminar will be followed immediately afterwards by a tea and chat session for extra care
residents to talk about the ideas we have explored. Residents and families from all 3 schemes
will be invited.
We will present our report to the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting and ask stakeholders to
feed back on the progress they have made with their pledges.
We will provide a summary of this progress to each extra care scheme for consideration at their
residents meetings.
We will also feed our recommendations to Wokingham Clinical Commissioning Group and the
Public Health team with a focus on tackling social isolation and loneliness.

With thanks to our project team
Rebecca Day
Margaret Campbell White
Tony Allen
UllaKarin Clark
Muriel Longhurst

Tricia Harcourt
Roger Kemp
Conor Eldred Earl
Annette Drake
Sue South

Contact
enquiries@healthwatchwokingham.co.uk
www.healthwatchwokingha,.co.uk
0118 418 1418

72

20

Agenda Item 9.
TITLE

Health Consultation

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee on
5 June 2017

WARD

None Specific

DIRECTOR

Andrew Moulton, Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
That the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee are informed of a current “live” health
consultation.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Committee decides if Members would like to respond to the consultation prior
to the deadline date.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
This paper provides an overview of “live” consultations in relation to health policy as of
23 May 2017.
‘Live’ consultation
Details provided on the “live” health related consultation.
1.

Availability of gluten-free foods on NHS prescription

Launch date: 31 March 2017
Closing date: 22 June 2017
The consultation seeks views on proposals on whether to make changes to the
availability of gluten-free foods that are prescribed on the NHS.
Respond online at:
https://consultations.dh.gov.uk/homeopathic/prescribing-gluten-free-foods/
Email to:
GFprescribing@dh.gsi.gov.uk
Write to:
Prescribing Policy and Legislation Team
Department of Health
Room 2E14
Quarry House
Quarry Hill
Leeds
LS2 7UE

73

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

N/A

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Reasons for considering the report in Part 2
N/A
Contact Madeleine Shopland
Telephone No 0118 974 6319
Date 23 May 2017

Service Governance and Improvement
Services
Email
madeleine.shopland@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

74

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Work Programme 2017/18 from June 2017

Please note that the work programme is a ‘live’ document and subject to change at short notice.
The order in which items are listed at this stage may not reflect the order they subsequently appear on the agenda.
All Meetings start at 7pm in the Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, unless otherwise stated.

75

Agenda Item 10.

DATE OF
MEETING
Monday 10
July 2017

76

ITEMS

PURPOSE OF REPORT

REASON FOR
CONSIDERATION

RESPONSIBLE
OFFICER / CONTACT
OFFICER
Health and Wellbeing
Board

Update from Health
and Wellbeing
Board

To be updated on the work of the Health and
Wellbeing Board

To be updated on the
work of the Health
and Wellbeing Board

Local Account

To receive the Local Account

To monitor
performance

Performance
Outcomes Report

To monitor performance and identify any
areas of concern

Challenge item

Health Consultation
Report

Challenge item

Challenge item

Democratic Services

Healthwatch update

Challenge item

Challenge item

Healthwatch Wokingham
Borough

Judith Ramsden,
Director of People
Services

DATE OF
MEETING
Monday 11
September
2017

ITEMS

PURPOSE OF REPORT

REASON FOR
CONSIDERATION

RESPONSIBLE
OFFICER / CONTACT
OFFICER

Performance
Outcomes Report

To monitor performance and identify any
areas of concern

Challenge item

Health Consultation
Report

Challenge item

Challenge item

Democratic Services

Healthwatch update

Challenge item

Challenge item

Healthwatch Wokingham
Borough

77
DATE OF
MEETING
Wednesday
15
November
2017

ITEMS

PURPOSE OF REPORT

REASON FOR
CONSIDERATION

Impact of the 21st
Century Council
project on health
and social care
services
Performance
Outcomes Report

To be informed of the potential Impact of the
21st Century Council project on health and
social care services

To be informed of the
potential Impact of the
21st Century Council
project on health and
social care services
Challenge item

Health Consultation
Report

Challenge item

To monitor performance and identify any
areas of concern

Challenge item

RESPONSIBLE
OFFICER / CONTACT
OFFICER
Judith Ramsden,
Director of People
Services/ Andy
Couldrick, Chief
Executive

Democratic Services

DATE OF
MEETING

ITEMS

Healthwatch update

DATE OF
MEETING

78

Monday 22
January
2018

ITEMS

PURPOSE OF REPORT

Challenge item

PURPOSE OF REPORT

REASON FOR
CONSIDERATION

Challenge item

REASON FOR
CONSIDERATION

RESPONSIBLE
OFFICER / CONTACT
OFFICER

Healthwatch Wokingham
Borough

RESPONSIBLE
OFFICER / CONTACT
OFFICER

Performance
Outcomes Report

To monitor performance and identify any
areas of concern

Challenge item

Health Consultation
Report

Challenge item

Challenge item

Democratic Services

Healthwatch update

Challenge item

Challenge item

Healthwatch Wokingham
Borough

DATE OF
MEETING
Wednesday
7 March
2018

ITEMS

PURPOSE OF REPORT

REASON FOR
CONSIDERATION

RESPONSIBLE
OFFICER / CONTACT
OFFICER

Performance
Outcomes Report

To monitor performance and identify any
areas of concern

Challenge item

Health Consultation
Report

Challenge item

Challenge item

Democratic Services

Healthwatch update

Challenge item

Challenge item

Healthwatch Wokingham
Borough

79

Currently unscheduled topics:
 Draft Quality Accounts (April 2018)
 Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
 Royal Berkshire Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
 South Central Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust
 Update on work of Clinical Commissioning Group
 Weekend ‘bed blocking’

This page is intentionally left blank

Glossary:


Bariatrics – branch of medicine that deals with the causes, prevention, and
treatment of obesity.



BCF – Better Care Fund



BHFT – Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust



C&B – (Choose and Book) is a national electronic referral service which gives
patients a choice of place, date and time for their first outpatient appointment in a
hospital or clinic.



CAM - Confusion Assessment Method



CAMHS – Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services



CCG – Clinical Commissioning Group



CDU – Clinical Decisions Unit



CHIS - Child Health Information Systems - patient administration systems that
provide a clinical record for individual children and support a variety of child health
and related activities, including universal services for population health and support
for statutory functions.



CHIMAT – Child Health Profiles



CKD – Chronic Kidney Disease



CNS – Clinical Nurse Specialist



Community Enhanced Service - a service provided in a community setting which
goes above and beyond what is normally commissioned by NHS England, including
primary care services that go beyond the scope of the GP contract.



Contract Query Notice - A specific action taken by the commissioner against the
Provider as per the contract. It is a notice served when a contractual target is not
being met. As a result of such a notice, an action must be agreed that results in
recovery of performance within a set timescale.



COF - Commissioning Outcomes Framework



CoSRR - Continuity of Services risk rating



CPA - Care Programme Approach - is a system of delivering community mental
health services to individuals diagnosed with a mental illness



CPN - Community Psychiatric Nurse



CQC – Care Quality Commission

81



CQUIN – Commissioning for Quality and Innovation - Is an incentivised money
reward scheme that has been developed to allocate payments to providers if they
meet quality outcomes identified to improve local quality issues.



CST - Cognitive Stimulation Therapy



CSU - Commissioning Support Unit



Cytology – the study of cells



DPH – Director of Public Health



DNACPR - Do Not Attempt Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation



DTOC – Delayed Transfer of Care



EDT – Electronic Document Transfer



ECIST - Emergency Care Intensive Support Team



ECO – Emergency Operations Centre



EOL – end of life care



EPR – Electronic Patient Record – means of viewing a patient’s medical record
via a computerised interface.



ESD – Early Supported Discharge service - pathways of care for people transferred
from an inpatient environment to a primary care setting to continue a period of
rehabilitation, reablement and recuperation at a similar level of intensity and
delivered by staff with the same level of expertise as they would have received in
the inpatient setting.



FFCE - First Finished Consultant Episode - first completed episode of a patient's
stay in hospital.



FPH – Frimley Park Hospital



GMS – General Medical Services



GRACe - General Referral Assessment Centre



GSCC – General Social Care Council



HALO - Hospital Ambulance Liaison Officer



HASU - Hyper-Acute Stroke Unit



HWPFT - Heatherwood and Wexham Park Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

82



JSNA – Joint Strategic Needs Assessment



LA – local authority



LES – Local Enhanced Service



LGBT – Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender



LOS - Length of Stay



LTC – long term conditions



MDT – multi disciplinary team



MH – Mental Health



MHP - mental health practitioner



MIU – Minor Injuries Unit



Monitor - Oversees the performance of NHS Foundation Trusts



MSA - Mixed sex accommodation



NARP – National Ambulance Response Pilot



Never Events - Never Events are serious, largely preventable patient safety
incidents that should not occur if the available preventative measures have been
implemented



NHSCB – National Health Service Commissioning Board (now NHS England)



NHS Safety Thermometer –tool to measure 4 high volume patient safety issues –
falls in care; pressure ulcers; urinary infections (in patients with a urinary catheter);
and treatment for VTE



NICE – National Institute of Health and Care Excellence



NEL - Non elected admissions



OHPA – Office of the Health Professions Regulator



ONS – Office for National Statistics



OOH – Out of Hours



Ophthalmology – branch of medicine that deals with diseases of the eye



OPMHS – Older Persons Mental Health Services

83



Orthopaedics - branch of surgery concerned with conditions involving the
musculoskeletal system



OT – Occupational Therapy



Outlier - a person or thing situated away or detached from the main body or
system.



PALS – Patient Advice and Liaison Service



PHE – Public Health England



PHOF – Public Health Outcomes Framework



PMS – Primary Medical Services



PPCI – Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention



PPIs - Proton Pump Inhibitors



PROMs - Patient Reported Outcome measures are questions asked of patients
before and after a specific treatment, to measure improvements to quality of life
from the patient’s point of view.



QIPP - Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention. The purpose of the
programme is to support commissioners and providers to develop service
improvement and redesign initiatives that improve productivity, eliminate waste and
drive up clinical quality.



RAT – Rapid Access Treatment



RBFT/ RBH - Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust



RCA – Root Cause Analysis - When incidents happen, Roots Cause Analysis
Investigation is a means of ensuring that lessons are learned across the NHS to
prevent the same incident occurring elsewhere.



RGN - Registered General Nurses



RMN - Registered Mental Health Nurses



RTT - referral to treatment time – waiting time between being referred and
beginning treatment.



SCAS – South Central Ambulance Service



SCR – Summary Care Record - electronic record which contains information about
the medicines you take, allergies you suffer from and any bad reactions to
medicines you have had in the past.

84



SEAP – Support Empower Advocate Promote - confidential, independent advocacy
service (health and mental health)



SHMI - Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator - ratio between the actual
number of patients who die following treatment at a trust and the number that would
be expected to die on the basis of average England figures, given the
characteristics of the patients treated there. Covers all deaths reported of patients
who were admitted to non-specialist acute trusts in England and either die while in
hospital or within 30 days of discharge.



SIRI – Serious incidents that require investigation



SLA – Service Level Agreement



SPOC – Single point of contact



SRG – Systems Resilience Group



SSNAP - Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme



STAR-PU - Specific Therapeutic group Age-sex Related Prescribing Units - a
way of weighting patients to account for differences in demography when
distributing resources or comparing prescribing.



SUSD – Step Up Step Down



Talking Therapies – free and confidential counselling service with a team of
advisors and therapists.



Thrombolysis – breakdown of blood clots by pharmacological means



TIA - transient ischemic attack – mini stroke



TTO – to take out



TVPCA – Thames Valley Primary Care Agency



UCC – Urgent Care Centre



VTE - venous thrombosis -blood clot that forms within a vein



WBCH – West Berkshire Community Hospital



WIC – Walk in Centre



WISP – Wokingham Integration Strategic Partnership



WTE - whole-time equivalents (in context of staff)



YLL – years of life lost

85



YPWD - Younger People with Dementia



YTD – Year to date

86

